UNIVERSITÄTSKLINIKUM HAMBURG-EPPENDORF

Institut für Neuroimmunologie und Multiple Sklerose

Prof. Dr. med. Manuel A. Friese

Exercise-induced neuroprotection in the hippocampus of EAE mice

Dissertation

zur Erlangung des Grades eines Doktors der Medizin an der Medizinischen Fakultät der Universität Hamburg.

vorgelegt von:

Helena Clara Lichtenfeld aus Hamburg

Hamburg 2024

Angenommen von der Medizinischen Fakultät der Universität Hamburg am: 21.08.2024

Veröffentlicht mit Genehmigung der Medizinischen Fakultät der Universität Hamburg.

Prüfungsausschuss, der Vorsitzende: Prof. Dr. Jörg Heeren

Prüfungsausschuss, zweiter Gutachter: Prof. Dr. Manuel Friese

Table of contents

L	List of FiguresVI		
L	ist of Ta	bles	VI
A	bbrevia	tions	VII
1	Intro	duction	1
	1.1	Multiple Sclerosis	1
	1.1.1	Epidemiology and Etiology	1
	1.1.2	Pathophysiology with focus on neurodegeneration	3
	1.1.3	Experimental Autoimmune Encephalomyelitis	5
	1.1.4	Cognitive impairment	6
	1.2	Hippocampus	7
	1.2.1	Structure and functions	7
	1.2.2	Adult hippocampal neurogenesis	9
	1.2.3	Hippocampal alterations in MS and EAE	11
	1.3	Exercise	13
	1.3.1	Neuroprotective properties with focus on the hippocampus	13
	1.3.2	Exercise in MS and EAE	15
	1.4	Aims	17
2	Mate	rial	18
	2.1	Reagents and chemicals	18
	2.2	Antibodies	21
	2.3	Primers	22
	2.4	Buffers, solutions and media	22
	2.5	Consumables	23
	2.6	Software	24
	2.7	Equipment	24
3	Meth	ods	
	3.1	Mice	26
	3.2	Genotyping	26
	3.3	Experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis	27
	3.4	Exercise setting	27
	3.5	Perfusion	27

	3.6	Histological analysis	28
	3.6.1	1 Tissue preparation	28
	3.6.2	2 Immunohistochemistry on paraffin and cryosections	28
	3.6.3	3 Immunohistochemical analyses	29
	3.7	Cell culture	30
	3.7.1	1 Primary hippocampal neurons	30
	3.7.2	2 N2A cells	31
	3.8	RNA/DNA purification and cDNA synthesis	31
	3.8.1	1 RNA purification from cells	31
	3.8.2	2 cDNA synthesis	32
	3.9	Quantitative real-time polymerase chain reaction	32
	3.10	Statistical analysis	32
	D		
4	Res		
	4.1	Characterization of hippocampal changes in EAE	
	4.1.1	1 Hippocampal inflammation in acute EAE	
	4.1.2	2 Reduction of adult hippocampal neurons in chronic EAE	
	4.1.3	3 Impairment of hippocampal neurogenesis in chronic EAE	
	4.1.4	4 Reduction of hippocampal synaptic density in chronic EAE	
	4.2	Impact of exercise on the EAE disease course	40
	4.2.1	Exercise ameliorates the EAE disease course	
	4.3	Exercise-induced hippocampal changes	
	4.3.1	1 Morphological hippocampal changes due to exercise	
	4.3.2	2 Hippocampal gene expression after exercise	45
5	Disc	cussion	
	5.1	Hippocampal changes in EAE	49
	5.1.1	1 EAE as a model for neurodegeneration	49
	5.1.2	2 Hippocampal damage	50
	5.2	Exercise and EAE disease course	52
	5.3	Exercise-induced hippocampal changes	54
	5.3.1	1 Hippocampal gene expression	55
	5.4	Outlook and transferability to MS patients	

6	Summary	. 60
7	Zusammenfassung	. 61
8	References	. 62
9	Acknowledgement	. 79
10	Curriculum vitae	. 80
11	Eidesstattliche Versicherung	. 81

List of Figures

Figure 1.1 Limbic System and Hippocampus	8
Figure 1.2 Differentiation stages in neurogenesis	11
Figure 1.3 FNDC5/BDNF pathway	15
Figure 4.1 Characterization of hippocampal changes in EAE	33
Figure 4.2 Hippocampal inflammation in acute EAE	35
Figure 4.3 Hippocampal cell count in chronic EAE	36
Figure 4.4 Hippocampal neurogenesis in acute and chronic EAE	38
Figure 4.5 Hippocampal synaptic denstity in chronic EAE	39
Figure 4.6 Experimental setup and impact of exercise on the EAE disease course	43
Figure 4.7 Hippocampal changes due to exercise	44
Figure 4.8 Validation of bacTRAP candidates via qPCR	46
Figure 4.9 Protein expression of candidate genes in hippocampal neurons	48
Figure 5.1 Hippocampal BacTRAP	56

List of Tables

Table 1: Reagents and chemicals for animal experiments	18
Table 2: Reagents and chemicals for genotyping	18
Table 3: Reagents and chemicals for cell culture	19
Table 4: Reagents and chemicals for IHC on cryosections and microscopy	19
Table 5: Reagents and chemicals for IHC on paraffin sections	19
Table 6: Reagents and chemicals for qPCR	20
Table 7: Primary antibodies for IHC on cryosections	21
Table 8: Primary antibodies for IHC on paraffin sections	21
Table 9: Secondary Antibodies for IHC	21
Table 10: Primers for qPCR	22
Table 11: Buffers, solutions and media	22
Table 12: Consumables	23
Table 13: Software	24
Table 14: Equipment	24

Abbreviations

Ab	Antibody		
ACTN4	Alpha-Actinin-4		
AD	Alzheimer's disease		
AHN	Adult hippocampal neurogenesis		
bacTRAP	Bacterial artificial chromosome-translating ribosome affinity		
	purification		
BBB	Blood-brain barrier		
BDNF	Brain-derived neurotrophic factor		
BrdU	Bromodeoxyuridine		
CA	Cornu ammonis		
CAPN1	Calpain-1		
CFA	Complete Freund's adjuvant		
CNS	Central nervous system		
DAB	3,3'-diaminobenzidine		
DAPI	4',6-diamidino-2-phenylindole		
DCX	Doublecortin		
DG	Dentate gyrus		
DNA	Deoxyribonucleic acid		
DMEM	Dulbecco's Modified Eagle Medium		
DPBS	Dulbecco's phosphate buffered saline		
EAE	Experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis		
EBV	Epstein-Barr Virus		
EDTA	Ethylenediaminetetraacetic acid		
FCS	Fetal Calf Serum		
FNDC5	Fibronectin type III domain-containing protein 5		
GM	Grey matter		
HBSS	Hanks' Balanced Salt Solution		
HC	Hippocampus		
HLA	Human leucocyte antigen		
IGF-1	Insulin-like growth-factor-1		
IHC	Immunohistochemistry		
LTP	Long-term potentiation		
MFI	Mean fluorescence intensity		
MHC	Major histocompatibility complex		
MOG	Myelin oligodendrocyte protein		
MRI	Magnetic resonance imaging		

MS	Multiple sclerosis
N2A	Neuro-2A
NAWM	Normal appearing white matter
NDS	Normal Donkey Serum
NGF	Nerve growth factor
NMDA	N-methyl-D-aspartate
PBS	Phosphate buffered saline
PCR	Polymerase chain reaction
PFA	Paraformaldehyde
p.m.	Postmortem
PNGM	Primary neuron growth medium
PPMS	Primary progressive multiple sclerosis
RNS	Reactive nitrogen species
ROI	Regions of interest
ROS	Reactive oxygen species
RRMS	Relapsing remitting multiple sclerosis
SEM	Standard error of the mean
SGZ	Subgranular zone
SPMS	Secondary progressive multiple sclerosis
SVZ	Subventricular zone
Тbр	TATA-binding protein
TRIM59	Tripartite Motif-Containing Protein 59
UVB	Ultraviolet B
VEGF	Vascular endothelial growth factor
WM	White matter

1.1 Multiple Sclerosis

Multiple sclerosis (MS) is the most common chronic inflammatory disease of the central nervous system (CNS). MS mainly affects young women, with a varying clinical course (Reich et al., 2018). The most common relapsing-remitting MS (RRMS) is characterized by relapses of neurological symptoms primarily affecting the motor, sensory, visual, and autonomic systems, with clinical recovery in between (Compston and Coles, 2008). Many patients with RRMS develop a secondary progressive phase (SPMS) after 10-20 years, with progressive worsening of neurological symptoms and disorders, often leading to severe disability. 15% of MS patients present with progredient symptoms without prior relapses, the primary progressive MS (PPMS) (Reich et al., 2018). Important pathophysiological factors include the invasion of autoreactive lymphocytes across the blood-brain barrier (BBB) into the CNS with activation of innate immune cells such as microglia alongside early and progressive neurodegeneration. In RRMS, CNS inflammation leads to demyelination and promotes neurodegenerative processes such as neuronal and axonal damage in mainly circumscribed regions, so-called lesions (Friese et al., 2014, Compston and Coles, 2008). The localization of white matter (WM) and grey matter (GM) lesions determines the nature of temporary clinical symptoms. The progressive phase is characterized by global and gradual neurodegeneration of the GM and WM (Dendrou et al., 2015). However, a single trigger causing MS has not been detected so far and it is assumed that a complex combination of genetic predisposition, environmental factors and infectious events contributes to MS pathogenesis (Compston and Coles, 2008). Despite great progress in the development of disease modifying drugs for especially RRMS and the inflammatory component, there is an urgent need for therapeutic strategies that address the ongoing neurodegeneration (Hauser and Cree, 2020).

1.1.1 Epidemiology and Etiology

MS affects more than 2.5 million people worldwide, with women at least twice as likely to develop the disease. The average age of diagnosis is about 30 years (Walton et al., 2020). Prevalence is highest in Northern Europe countries and North America and lowest in regions around the equator, increasing with higher latitudes while decreasing from north to south (Wallin et al., 2019). A genetic predisposition has been supposed for more than a century due to characteristics in the epidemiology. Women have an increased risk of developing MS compared to men. This suggests both a genetic predisposition and an autoimmune component as women show a higher prevalence of autoimmune diseases (Reich et al., 2018).

Furthermore, first-degree relatives are about 30 times more likely to develop MS (3%) than the general population (0.1%) (Patsopoulos, 2018). And finally, twin studies revealed that monozygotic twins have significantly higher concordance (25-30%) than dizygotic twins (3-7%). Altogether, a meta-estimation revealed that approximately 50% of MS susceptibility is caused by hereditary factors (Fagnani et al., 2015). The heredity pattern does not indicate that MS is caused by a single gene and inherited according to the Mendelian rules. Certain human leukocyte antigens (HLA) class I and II molecule variants, especially the HLA-DRB1*15:01 haplotype, are associated with increased or decreased susceptibility for MS (Hollenbach and Oksenberg, 2015). Until the early 2000s, it was not possible to identify further risk genes outside the HLA locus that contribute significantly to MS genesis (Patsopoulos, 2018). A breakthrough was reached with genome wide association studies revealing more than 200 gene variants and polymorphisms that are more prevalent in patients with MS compared to the general population. These genes are predominantly associated with immunological processes in mainly regulatory gene regions that, among other functions, modify splicing (Patsopoulos, 2018).

Besides the genetical predisposition, several environmental and behavioral factors are crucial in MS pathogenesis. Migration studies reveal a strong influence of environmental factors, as migration from a high-risk region to a low-risk region during childhood significantly reduces the risk of developing MS (Compston and Coles, 2008). Differences in prevalence depending on latitude can be explained by different ultraviolet B (UVB) exposure besides genetic factors. Many studies have been conducted and most of them describe an inverse correlation between sun exposure and MS prevalence (Marrie, 2004). In part, this could be attributed to enhanced vitamin D levels with higher sun exposure. Low levels of vitamin D were shown to enhance both the risk for MS and an increased disease activity (Sintzel et al., 2018). Furthermore, smoking, traumatic injury and several comorbid diseases contribute to disease risk (Belbasis et al., 2015). Obesity, notably during adolescence, is associated with a higher risk of developing MS later in life (Olsson et al., 2017). This is consistent with findings that intense physical activity in the same period of life is associated with a reduced likelihood of MS (Wesnes et al., 2017).

Infections have long been studied in the context of MS etiology, with a focus on the Epstein-Barr virus (EBV). Recent findings indicate an up to 32-fold increased risk of developing MS in people infected with EBV (Bjornevik et al., 2022). Conversely, EBV antibody (ab) titers and reactivity were increased in patients with MS compared to healthy EBV-seropositive people (Olsson et al., 2017, Sundström et al., 2009). It is assumed that an EBV infection in genetically predisposed people can lead to an aberrant immune response causing MS (Bar-Or et al., 2020). Here, molecular mimicry plays a decisive role. Such a cross-reaction was recently identified between EBNA1, an EBV protein, and GlialCAM, a glial adhesion protein expressed in the CNS suggesting a causal link between MS and EBV infection (Lanz et al., 2022). Overall, according to current knowledge, only a complex combination of genetic predisposition and additional environmental and lifestyle factors can explain the genesis of MS.

1.1.2 Pathophysiology with focus on neurodegeneration

The term "multiple sclerosis" refers to the characteristic sclerotic plagues as the main feature of the disease. These plaques can be visualized via radiological imaging and examination of postmortem (p.m.) brain tissue and are the result of predominantly circumscribed inflammation, demyelination and neurodegeneration (Compston and Coles, 2008). Sequence and cause of these pathological processes remain elusive and are subject of current research. The outside-in model of MS pathophysiology assumes peripheral activation of T lymphocytes which gain ability to cross the BBB and attack brain tissue in an autoreactive manner (Stys et al., 2012, Thompson et al., 2018). Together with macrophages and B lymphocytes, they infiltrate distinct areas in the WM but also the GM of the CNS. This proinflammatory environment results in activation of resident immune cells, especially microglia, and other glial cells such as astrocytes, leading to demyelination and axonal damage (Compston and Coles, 2008). These locally and temporally disseminated lesions are described as the hallmark of RRMS whereas the progressive phase according to the outside-in model is thought to be a consequence of CNS inflammation and mainly neurodegenerative. Characteristic pathological hallmarks have also been identified for progressive MS. These include demyelination of the GM and diffuse neurodegenerative processes such as axonal damage and neuron loss predominantly in the normal appearing white matter (NAWM) and deep GM including the hippocampal area (Filippi et al., 2012). In addition, cortical lesions play an important role, whereby a correlation between the degree of cortical demyelination and localized B and T cell follicles, especially in the meninges, was observed, although the overall global inflammatory activity is not as high as in RRMS (Machado-Santos et al., 2018, Magliozzi et al., 2018). At the edge of some chronically demyelinated and slowly expanding lesions, macrophages and microglia with iron accumulation could be detected (Dal-Bianco et al., 2017). These rim lesions presented to be most evident in progressive MS potentially driving ongoing neurodegeneration and causing poorer neurocognitive performance (Dal-Bianco et al., 2021). Altogether, these processes lead to progredient atrophy of the brain and irreversible disability of affected patients (Eshaghi et al., 2018, Dendrou et al., 2015).

On the other hand, the *inside-out* model assumes pathological processes primarily taking place in the CNS and secondarily activating the immune system by systemically released antigens (Stys et al., 2012). This theory is accompanied by the assumption that neurodegeneration is not only the consequence of inflammation, but an early phenomenon

that occurs independent from the amount of relapses and immune cell infiltration (Friese et al., 2014). It could be shown that especially in PPMS, but also in SPMS, the entire CNS is diffusely affected by pathological processes. This is mainly reflected in a global activation of innate immune cells, cortical lesions and pathological changes in the NAWM. These processes develop independently of the WM lesions that characterize RRMS, calling into question the outside-in model (Kutzelnigg et al., 2005). The MS disease course could therefore be explained as neuroprotective and neurodegenerative processes initially compensating for early neurodegeneration and then exhausting themselves in the progressive phase resulting in irreversible disability (Friese et al., 2014). Studies have demonstrated brain atrophy resulting from especially GM loss at very early stages of MS (Calabrese et al., 2007, Chard et al., 2002b). Besides measuring of brain atrophy, a decrease of N-acetylaspartate, a marker only expressed in neurons and whose decrease correlates with neuronal cell loss or dysfunction, could be detected in the GM of patients with early MS (Chard et al., 2002a, Kapeller et al., 2001). Interestingly, the degree of disability that correlates best with neurodegeneration does not depend on the number of MS relapses (Confavreux et al., 2000). This observation is in line with the observation that although anti-inflammatory drugs reduce the number of relapses, they can only improve or delay the progression of disability to a limited extent (Hauser and Cree, 2020).

Neurodegeneration

Although many aspects of the immunopathological and neuropathological processes, especially the question of cause and consequence, remain to be elucidated, neurodegeneration certainly plays a crucial role in MS. It is known that irreversible, long-term disability of MS patients correlates best with the degree of neurodegeneration which progresses continuously especially in the progressive phase of MS (Trapp et al., 1999). A substantial loss of neurons, glial cells and synapses as well as severe damage and reduction of axons could be shown in the CNS of MS patients (Wegner et al., 2006, Popescu and Lucchinetti, 2012). Cortical and subcortical atrophy is already evident at early stages of the disease but the hallmark of the progressive phase of MS (Eshaghi et al., 2018). This indicates both inflammation-independent and -dependent neurodegeneration. There is still no clarity about the exact underlying neurodegenerative processes, but some important pathways have been identified. Chronic CNS inflammation by innate immune cells, more precisely microglia and macrophages, leads to the release of reactive oxygen species (ROS), reactive nitrogen species (RNS), cytokines and glutamate, all promoting neuroaxonal damage (Friese et al., 2014). ROS and RNS evoke oxidative stress causing damage of cellular structures in neuronal cells (Lassmann and van Horssen, 2011). Ion channels are crucial for maintaining the electrical properties of neurons and their dysfunction appear to have a central influence on progressive neurodegeneration. The excitotoxicity caused by glutamate, which is released in

excess both by damaged cells and by inflammatory cells (Piani et al., 1991), is important in this context. Glutamate induces a harmful calcium influx into the cell by activating N-methyl-D-aspartate (NMDA) receptors (Friese et al., 2014, Hardingham and Bading, 2010). Mitochondria produce the energy necessary for cell survival and functioning and are severely impaired in MS (Witte et al., 2010). This leads to energy deficiency and therefore hypoxia in neurons, which is a central pathological hallmark of neurodegeneration (Halder and Milner, 2020). Their dysfunction was shown to be cause and consequence of several other neurodegenerative processes such as ion channel dysfunction and oxidative stress (Dutta et al., 2006, Friese et al., 2014). Furthermore, the disruption of neurotrophic factors such as brain-derived neurotrophic factor (BDNF) and their neuroprotective pathways during MS can hinder the repair and regeneration of neurons (Bernardes et al., 2013, Aharoni et al., 2005).

1.1.3 Experimental Autoimmune Encephalomyelitis

CNS imaging and p.m. tissue analysis of MS patients are essential for exploring disease mechanisms of MS, but not sufficient to understand underlying processes of neurodegeneration. This requires in vivo models that provide an approximation of the still unknown pathomechanism of MS. A widely used model is the experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis (EAE) most frequently induced in mice. Much of what is known today about the pathophysiology of MS and many of the drugs being used to treat MS derived from studies in EAE (Constantinescu et al., 2011). Just as the clinical course of MS is very heterogeneous, there are also different methods to induce EAE, providing models for monophasic acute or chronic MS as well as RRMS. This is due to differences in induction as well as the use of different mouse strains (Constantinescu et al., 2011). What EAE protocols have in common, however, is that the disease is triggered by peripheral immunization with antigens inducing an inflammatory response that secondarily spreads to the CNS. This most closely reflects the outside-in model of MS, so some bias in research results must be assumed when assumptions are applied from EAE to MS (Sriram and Steiner, 2005). To actively induce EAE, mice are injected with specific CNS antigens together with complete Freund's adjuvant (CFA). The immune response is additionally enhanced by application of pertussis toxin (Racke, 2001). To induce a monophasic EAE course, myelin oligodendrocyte protein (MOG) is applied as CNS antigen in C57BL/6 mice. CD4⁺ T cells that specifically recognize the injected antigen, cross the BBB, get reactivated in the CNS, where, together with resident immune cells, they trigger focal inflammation, demyelination and neurodegeneration (Stromnes and Goverman, 2006). The average time between immunization and clinical symptoms is 10-15 days. Mice show characteristic symptoms that are mainly due to damage to the spinal cord and thus affect the musculoskeletal system. An acute phase of symptom deterioration is followed by a chronic phase in which some of the animals partially recover, but others do not experience any

improvement and suffer from progressive disability, similar to SPMS (Constantinescu et al., 2011, Bittner et al., 2014). This EAE model is particularly suitable to study neurodegenerative processes because it reflects the chronic progressive rather than relapsing remitting components of MS (Voskuhl and MacKenzie-Graham, 2022). Interestingly, the animals exhibit impaired spatial orientation even before disturbances in motor function, indicating early damage to, among other CNS regions, the hippocampus (HC) (Mancini et al., 2017).

1.1.4 Cognitive impairment

MS presents with a variety of symptoms that, in case of RRMS, mostly result from the localization of the lesions. To name a few examples, lesions on the optic nerve cause visual impairment, if they occur in the cerebellum, tremor and dysarthria may result. Lesions of the cerebrum or spinal cord could lead to sensory and motoric impairment (Compston and Coles, 2008). An important symptom complex that cannot be exclusively attributed to a specific brain region and whose underlying mechanisms remain largely unknown is cognitive impairment. Overall, about 40-70% of MS patients suffer from cognitive impairment, which is a major socioeconomic burden for the community, given that MS affects mainly young people of working age (Kavaliunas et al., 2022). Until today, there is no effective treatment addressing this symptom complex of the disease. Cognitive impairment subsumes a range of possible dysfunctions severely affecting the ability to manage everyday life and ability of social integration (Chiaravalloti and DeLuca, 2008). To evaluate these impairments, there are several test batteries. The minimal neuropsychological assessment of MS (MACFIMS) is often used and covers the domains language, spatial processing, new learning and memory, executive functions, processing speed and working memory (Benedict et al., 2006). Other frequently used testing instruments are the Multiple Sclerosis Functional Composite (MSFC) score and the Paced Auditory Serial Addition Task (PASAT) (Motl and Pilutti, 2012). It has become apparent that particularly processing speed and the episodic memory are impaired in MS (Chiaravalloti and DeLuca, 2008, Sumowski et al., 2018).

It has been recognized for several decades that cognitive impairment is a central symptom in MS, but there is still disagreement about the pathological processes underlying this disability. At first, lesion load could be shown to correlate with the severity of cognitive decline (Rao et al., 1989). This was consistently demonstrated in subsequent studies (Lazeron et al., 2005, Sperling et al., 2001). Over time, brain atrophy in MS became more of a focus and magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) studies of human brains revealed an even stronger correlation of brain atrophy than lesion load with cognitive decline (Benedict et al., 2004). Furthermore, progressive and early GM degeneration is central in MS and has been shown to correlate closely with cognitive impairment (Rocca et al., 2015). Since brain atrophy as a sign of

neurodegeneration can be detected at very early stages of MS, it fits well with the results of a prospective study which revealed that cognitive decline often occurs years prior to other typical MS symptoms such as visual or sensory impairment (Cortese et al., 2016). Especially subcortical atrophy seems to be related to poorer cognitive performance (Bermel et al., 2002). Two central subcortical regions whose impairment has been linked to cognitive disability are the thalamus and the HC. The volume of the thalamus was not only found to be reduced in MS patients compared to healthy controls but also significantly smaller in patients with lower cognitive performance (Houtchens et al., 2007). The HC is central to the formation and retrieval of memories, an important cognitive function. In the following, the multiple functions of the HC as well as its structural damage in patients with MS will be discussed in more detail in order to establish a connection between the damage to the HC and the cognitive impairment of MS patients.

1.2 Hippocampus

1.2.1 Structure and functions

The HC is a unique and complex structure. As part of the archicortex, it belongs to the phylogenetically oldest part of the brain. In humans, the HC is located in the medial temporal lobe, adjacent to the inferior horn of the lateral ventricle. The HC in the narrow sense consists of the C-shaped dentate gyrus (DG) and cornu ammonis (CA), which in turn is organized in several subareas (CA1-CA4). However, these areas are not connected in series, but the CA winds in and around the DG, enabling a complex interaction. In rodents, the HC occupies a larger part of the brain and, due to the lack of lobation, is located in the superior-medial part, which is adjacent to the third ventricle in both hemispheres. Unlike the neocortex, the HC is characterized by its three instead of six cortical layers. Principal cells in the DG are the granule cells, which are closely packed in the granule cell layer. There, dendrites branch in the molecular layer forming the outer layer of the C-shaped DG. The third and inner layer is called polymorphic layer, forms the hilum and contains small polymorphic cells and the axons of the granule cells (Schultz and Engelhardt, 2014). The CA, as part of the archicortex, also has a three-layer structure. Here, pyramidal cells are the principal cells forming the middle layer. The stratum oriens mainly contains basal dendrites of the pyramidal cells. Above the pyramidal cells is the molecular layer, which is once again divided into the stratum lucidum and radiatum, where axons of the DG granule cells project on dendrites of the CA pyramidal cells (Schultz and Engelhardt, 2014).



Figure 1.1 Limbic System and Hippocampus

Illustration of important areas of the limbic system with magnified representation of the components of the hippocampal formation (Created with BioRender.com).

The HC is a central part of the limbic system, which comprises several subcortical and cortical structures, the most important of which are labeled in Figure 1.1, surrounding the thalamus and basal nuclei. The areas are anatomically distributed in the CNS but closely interconnected by specific fiber tracts. First described by Broca as the limbic lobe, it was initially assigned to the olfactory system (Broca, 1878). However, with the help of animal experiments, other central functions of the limbic system were discovered. These include its critical role in learning processes and memory formation, emotions, motivation and autonomic and behavioral regulation (Mega et al., 1997). Over time it became apparent that defining one big limbic system is too simple and that the classification into anatomical and, subsequently, functional subsystems is more appropriate. Most attempts separate one subsystem that is crucial for emotions from another for memory formation (Rolls, 2015, Catani et al., 2013). The latter subsumes structures that are directly connected to the HC as the central structure. The best known neuronal circuit that must be mentioned in this context is the Papez circuit, which subsumes the following structures: HC, fimbria, fornix, mamillary body, anterior nucleus of the thalamus and cingulate gyrus, and was initially described as "the anatomic basis of emotions" (Papez, 1937). Later, however, the circuit was attributed primarily to memory formation, or more precisely the transfer of contents of the short-term into the long-term memory (Rolls, 2015). After bilateral resection of temporal lobe structures including the HC in order to cure his epilepsy, the patient H.M. developed anterograde amnesia. His working memory remained intact, but no new content could be transferred to long-term memory and the retrieval of contents of the long-term memory was partly impaired (Corkin, 2002). More specifically, the HC is primarily responsible for the episodic memory, meaning memories of autobiographical events with temporal and spatial classification.

Within the HC, synaptic circuitry can be described as a trisynaptic loop. Simplified, afferents from sensory cortices enter the DG via the perforant path. Granule cells of the DG send their axons, called mossy fibers, to the CA3 pyramidal cells, from where Schaffer collaterals project to CA1 pyramidal cells. The efferents exit the HC via the subiculum. To amplify or attenuate synaptic signaling, the circuits are modulated by associational and commissural fibers as well as inhibitory neurons (Mancini et al., 2017). Closely related to semantic memory is spatial mapping. The HC exerts this function, in part, through networks of so-called place cells that facilitate the learning of orientation in space creating a cognitive map. Place cells show a location-specific firing pattern and were first described in rodents (O'Keefe and Nadel, 1979) and later in the human HC (Ekstrom et al., 2003). Both the functionality of place cells and the consolidation and recall of memories require a high degree of plasticity. A key mechanism first described in the HC is long-term potentiation (LTP). LTP describes the following phenomenon: when two neurons are activated in a time-coupled manner, their synaptic connection is strengthened generating cell assemblies encoding memories and a cognitive map (Hebb, 1949, Neves et al., 2008). In addition to this synaptic plasticity, another unique form of plasticity occurs in the HC, namely adult hippocampal neurogenesis (AHN).

1.2.2 Adult hippocampal neurogenesis

Santiago Ramon y Cajal postulated in 1913 "In the adult centers, the nerve paths are something fixed and immutable. Everything may die, nothing may be regenerated". This notion persisted primarily because mature neurons exhibit postmitotic characteristics. Regeneration of neurons was therefore long considered impossible and the potential of neurogenesis was thought to end at birth (Surget and Belzung, 2022, Altman and Das, 1965). Today it is known that neuronal plasticity, the constant adaption of brain structures and functions, is a basic requirement for learning and memory and one fascinating phenomenon of plasticity is adult neurogenesis. Besides the subventricular zone (SVZ), the HC, and more specifically the subgranular zone (SGZ) of the DG, is one of two regions of the adult human brain, where neurogenesis, the generation of neuronal precursors, has been detected (Kumar et al., 2019). The SGZ provides the necessary conditions for the proliferation and differentiation of neuronal stem cells, such as mild hypoxia (Mohyeldin et al., 2010) and production of BDNF (Kempermann et al., 2015).

The HC is crucial for memory formation, emotions and motivation. All these tasks require a high cognitive flexibility, which, among other mechanisms, is maintained by AHN. Newborn neurons from the SGZ undergo maturation (Figure 1.2) until they are finally integrated into the granule cell layer of the HC with electrophysiological and morphological properties of mature granule cells (van Praag et al., 2002) and even higher LTP potential and decreased threshold

for activation (Ge et al., 2007). AHN is not a static phenomenon. Environmental factors such as physical activity (van Praag et al., 1999), enriched environment (Kempermann et al., 1997) and dietary restrictions (Lee et al., 2000) as well as in conditions after events that damage the brain were shown to enhance AHN. These include ischemia (Liu et al., 1998), seizures (Parent et al., 1997) and trauma (Shapiro, 2017), suggesting a regenerative potential of AHN. The idea of using neurogenesis therapeutically in the context of these diseases, and particularly in the context of neurodegenerative diseases, has been discussed for some time (Sailor et al., 2006). As it is proving difficult to translate animal studies on the transplantation of exogenously generated neurons into the CNS to human studies, the use of environmental conditions known to stimulate neurogenesis, such as physical activity, is an interesting therapeutic option.

AHN in rodents and other species is a recognized and well-studied phenomenon (von Bohlen und Halbach, 2011, Lledo et al., 2006), but studies in humans still reach conflicting conclusions about whether AHN exists at all and, if so, up to what age (Boldrini et al., 2018, Sorrells et al., 2018). In humans, it was first described by Eriksson et al. (1998) via Bromodeoxyuridine (BrdU) immunohistochemistry (IHC). BrdU is a synthetic thymidine analogue that, after in vivo injection, incorporates in the deoxyribonucleic acid (DNA) of dividing cells (Kuhn et al., 2016). However, this marker can only be quantified in p.m. brain tissue, which significantly limits its application in human studies. It remains a critical problem that there are no valid methods to detect neurogenesis in vivo. In p.m. brain tissue, various markers could be defined that indicate the maturation status of newborn neurons (von Bohlen und Halbach, 2007). Figure 1.2 illustrates the maturation starting from radial glial cells which are considered as precursors of neurons and glial cells (Moreno-Jimenez et al., 2019). Doublecortin (DCX), a microtubuleassociated protein, could be validated as a reliable and specific marker of newborn neurons (Couillard-Despres et al., 2005). It is exclusively expressed in certain maturation stages of neurons (Figure 1.2) and restricted to newborn neurons in the SVZ and SGZ (Brown et al., 2003).



Figure 1.2 Differentiation stages in neurogenesis

1.2.3 Hippocampal alterations in MS and EAE

Cognitive impairment is a symptom of MS that is at least in part attributed to damage to the HC. The following summarizes these impairments and their functional implications in MS and EAE. Lesion load of the WM quantified by imaging or p.m. tissue analysis is often used to assess how severely a brain region is affected in MS. In recent years, lesions and alterations of the GM, including the HC, have become an increasing focus of interest and evidence of hippocampal lesions was found in p.m. brain tissue from MS patients (Papadopoulos et al., 2009, Geurts et al., 2007). Shortly thereafter, new MRI methods were developed that allowed in vivo detection of hippocampal lesions in both RRMS and SPMS (Geurts et al., 2012, Roosendaal et al., 2008). Furthermore, these imaging methods showed early-onset alteration of GM not affected by lesions, supporting the previously established hypothesis of early-onset neurodegeneration (Inglese et al., 2004, Oreja-Guevara et al., 2005). At the functional level, higher lesion burden in the HC has also been shown to correlate with greater cognitive impairment (Geurts et al., 2007). In addition, the HC seems to be already affected by neurodegenerative processes visualized by diffusion tensor imaging in patients with CIS and these changes were seen to correlate negatively with cognitive performance (Planche et al., 2017). Measurable hippocampal atrophy has been described in MS patients as a sign of progressive neurodegeneration compared to healthy controls. Furthermore, atrophy is significantly more pronounced in MS patients with cognitive impairment compared to patients with preserved cognition (Damjanovic et al., 2017). Analyzing the subregions of the HC in more detail, the CA1 region seems to be most affected by atrophy, which starts early and is

Illustration of the most important differentiation stages during hippocampal neurogenesis together with representation of certain cell markers specifically expressed at different stages of maturation. DCX is expressed during variable maturation stages and therefore suitable for investigation of immature neurons in AHN (Moreno-Jimenez et al., 2019).

most pronounced in the progressive phase of MS associated with impaired cognitive performance (Sicotte et al., 2008). Similarly, hippocampal atrophy and demyelination, particularly of the CA1 region and studied by MRI and p.m. tissue examination, is also evident in EAE most pronounced in the chronic phase (Ziehn et al., 2010, Ziehn et al., 2012, Hamilton et al., 2019). Interestingly, during EAE, limitations in spatial orientation occurred even before motor deficits that mainly define the course of the disease indicating early onset neurodegeneration in EAE (Dutra et al., 2013, Kim et al., 2012).

Histological and morphological alterations

Histological studies revealed CNS inflammation as an important component in MS pathogenesis and microglial activation in the HC could be detected both during the acute and chronic course of EAE (Ziehn et al., 2010, Di Filippo et al., 2016, Di Filippo et al., 2013). However, there are no consistent results on whether infiltration with lymphocytes occurs. Some studies describe that no lymphocytes are detectable in the HC of EAE mice or primarily in adjacent meninges (Ziehn et al., 2010, Kyran et al., 2018). In other studies, in turn, the detection of lymphocytes in parenchyma of the HC was successful (Mori et al., 2014). Supplementary, it must be said that EAE induction protocols vary between studies and thus explain differences in results to some extent. In MS patients, microglial activation in the HC is also evident and has been linked to functional deficits (Colasanti et al., 2016).

Consistent with the results of new MRI methods, profound demyelination in and around the HC was identified in histological studies of MS patients (Geurts et al., 2007). Regarding a significant loss of neurons, there is more disagreement in the literature. While one study describes a severe reduction of neurons (Papadopoulos et al., 2009), another study saw only minimal neuronal cell loss in the HC of MS patients. Instead, a severe loss of synapses was reported (Dutta et al., 2011). Even though EAE is known to primarily affect the spinal cord, atrophy of especially the CA1 hippocampal region is reported together with demyelination but no significant axonal loss (Ziehn et al., 2010). A 40% loss of pyramidal cells in CA1 and CA4 was reported at day 30 postimmunization (Kurkowska-Jastrzebska et al., 2013). More intensively than synapse density, the functional level such as changes in synaptic plasticity during MS and EAE has been studied (Mancini et al., 2017). Both induction (Nisticò et al., 2013) and impairment of LTP in hippocampal CA1 neurons (Di Filippo et al., 2016) are described in the literature. Differences were also found with respect to the timing of the analysis, with LTP being affected exclusively in the chronic but not in the acute phase of EAE consistent with the presence of spatial memory impairment (Novkovic et al., 2015). Equally controversial are studies examining the influence of MS and EAE on AHN. Giannakopoulou et al. (2017) reported an induction of AHN with an increased number of DCX⁺ neurons during chronic EAE but no differences in acute EAE (Giannakopoulou et al., 2013). Other studies report enhanced neuronal proliferation in acute and chronic EAE (Huehnchen et al., 2011) or,

in contrast, a decline in chronic EAE (Aharoni et al., 2005, Guo et al., 2010) partly after an initial enhancement shortly after EAE induction (Aharoni et al., 2005). Although induced AHN has been observed in some studies, the extent to which the newborn neurons can mature and replace injured neurons remains to be explored. In summary, analyses of hippocampal changes, especially during EAE, yield contradictory results.

1.3 Exercise

Regular moderate aerobic exercise has numerous positive effects on body functions and systems. These include the cardiovascular system, the immune system, the metabolism and the musculoskeletal system preventing, to name a few, cardiovascular disease, diabetes, obesity and cancer (van Praag et al., 2014, Hillman et al., 2008). Focused on the brain, endurance exercise is used, for example, as a non-drug migraine prophylaxis and in the treatment of depression (Dimeo et al., 2001, Lemmens et al., 2019). Especially hippocampal functions appear to be positively influenced by exercise. Physical activity during childhood was shown to be correlated with better cognitive performance in school (Sibley and Etnier, 2003). A systematic review revealed a strong influence of acute and chronic exercise on short- and long-term memory (Loprinzi et al., 2018). In rodents, exercise improves the cognitive performance, as tested, for example, by spatial memory in the Morris water maze (Vaynman et al., 2004). A large meta-analysis revealed that physical activity has a significant positive effect on multiple domains such as improved quality of life, mood, and cognitive performance in patients with chronic brain diseases such as Alzheimer's disease (AD), Huntington's disease and MS (Dauwan et al., 2019). Exercise is a broad term and encompasses both acute and chronic physical activity including endurance and strength training. In the following, potential neuroprotective properties of aerobic endurance exercise will be discussed, which could be at least partly responsible for the observed positive effects.

1.3.1 Neuroprotective properties with focus on the hippocampus

The neuroprotective influences of aerobic exercise on the CNS are numerous, and the HC is particularly susceptible to these effects. Exercise has anti-inflammatory properties and can therefore reduce neurodegeneration accelerated by inflammation and oxidative stress (Małkiewicz et al., 2019). These include downregulation of proinflammatory and upregulation of anti-inflammatory cytokines, as well as enhancement of antioxidant signaling pathways in the CNS (Liu et al., 2019, de Sousa et al., 2017). Furthermore, the CNS is largely protected from the intrusion of toxins, pathogens and the immune system by the BBB. Exercise seems to have an effect on the integrity and function of the BBB, Souza et al. (2017) described an

restoration of tight-junction proteins to normal levels in EAE mice after an exercise intervention. The major energy generation of the CNS occurs within the mitochondria through oxidative phosphorylation. Mitochondrial dysfunction and consecutive oxidative stress are key elements of neurodegenerative diseases and also described in MS and EAE (Burtscher et al., 2021, Witte et al., 2010, Rosenkranz et al., 2021). Exercise can increase mitochondrial biogenesis, enhance their function and consequently reduce oxidative stress while promoting neuronal resilience to stress and detrimental influences (reviewed in Burtscher et al., 2021).

Neurotransmitters, as chemical messengers of the brain, are essential for the communication between neurons and thus the functionality of neuronal circuits. They have the potential to induce the expression of genes important for neurogenesis, neuronal survival and plasticity and thus central functions of the HC. Regular exercise can lead to changes in neurotransmitter levels and activity and therefore counteract age- or disease-related alterations of brain functions such as cognition (Vecchio et al., 2018). Closely related to the altered expression of neurotransmitters is the increased production of neurotrophins. Well studied in this context are BDNF, nerve growth factor (NGF), vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) and Insulin-like growth-factor-1 (IGF-1). IGF-1 for example is a growth hormone essential for cell division and normal length growth in children and adults. IGF-1 is produced mainly in the liver with the ability to cross the BBB but also in the CNS. In the CNS, it has been shown to induce neurogenesis, synaptic plasticity, and promote neuronal survival (Bianchi et al., 2017). Elevated peripheral and central levels of IGF-1 following exercise are described (Ding et al., 2006). Another important neuroprotective pathway starts with the secretion of the myokine Irisin, the soluble form of Fibronectin type III domain-containing protein 5 (FNDC5). After the exercise-induced release of Irisin from the muscle, it increases the expression of BDNF, which is important for nerve cell survival, induction of neurogenesis, differentiation of neurons and plasticity (Wrann et al., 2013) (Figure 1.3). BDNF is expressed in the brain especially in the hippocampal area while stimulated by neuronal activity. It is furthermore peripherally produced with the potential to cross the BBB (Leal et al., 2017). Increased levels of BDNF in the HC were detected due to exercise (Neeper et al., 1995, Wrann et al., 2013).



Figure 1.3 FNDC5/BDNF pathway

Exercise induces the PGC1 α -dependent formation and release of Irisin, the soluble form of FNDC5, from the muscle. After crossing the BBB, Irisin enhances levels of BDNF in the HC with the potential to induce hippocampal neurogenesis and therefore learning, memory and mood (Pedersen, 2019).

All these pathways induce visual and measurable changes in the HC. It could be demonstrated that exercise can increase hippocampal volume in humans (Erickson et al., 2011). On a cellular level, the induction of AHN by physical exercise is widely recognized. An enhanced number of BrdU⁺ cells could be detected in the mouse HC following a voluntary exercise intervention (van Praag et al., 1999). Not only altered signaling of neurotransmitters and neurotrophins, but also an enhanced blood and energy supply supports the AHN (Ma et al., 2017). Whether these newborn neurons have the potential to integrate into pre-existing hippocampal circuits is largely unknown. Exercise seems to induce LTP (Loprinzi, 2019) and therefore promotes plasticity. Closely linked to this, it was demonstrated that exercise increases the density of dendritic spines and could therefore potentially expand the number of synaptic contacts (Eadie et al., 2005). The investigation of changes in neuroinflammation, especially microglial activation, led to differing results. Soch et al. (2016) described an increase in number and activation of microglia in the HC after voluntary exercise. Furthermore, no changes in hippocampal cell count could be detected. Other studies emphasize antiinflammatory properties of exercise with inhibition of microglial activation and proliferation (Mee-Inta et al., 2019).

1.3.2 Exercise in MS and EAE

EAE, as a widely used model of MS, offers the opportunity to investigate the influence of exercise on disease progression and hippocampal changes. Since EAE is externally induced, the acute phase of the disease can be correlated with immune cell infiltration in the CNS, although there is evidence of early neurodegenerative processes. In the chronic phase, however, neurodegeneration predominates (Voskuhl and MacKenzie-Graham, 2022). Studies

investigating the effect of an exercise intervention prior or at timepoint of EAE induction report some positive impacts. Previous Treadmill-running was shown to delay time of disease onset and attenuate disease severity in acute and chronic EAE (Souza et al., 2017, Einstein et al., 2018). Comparable results were obtained in a study that used previous forced swimming as an endurance exercise model (Bernardes et al., 2016). Both exercise models potentially induce stress in the animals, which in turn could bias the results, as discussed in detail later in this work (see Chapter 5.2). Other investigators chose voluntary exercise models with simultaneous exercise intervention and EAE induction. Interestingly, two studies (Rossi et al., 2009, Rizzo et al., 2021) reported that time of disease onset was comparable between exercise and sedentary mice while a third study (Pryor et al., 2015) showed a delayed disease onset in the exercise group. A reduced disease severity in acute and chronic exercise EAE was consistent in all three studies.

Few studies have investigated cognitive and hippocampal changes associated with exercise intervention in EAE mice. Cognitive impairment appears early in EAE disease course and could be related to hippocampal neurodegeneration (Dutra et al., 2013, Kim et al., 2012). Voluntary exercise has been shown to counteract cognitive decline in EAE mice (Kim and Sung, 2017, Rizzo et al., 2021). Even before the onset of motor symptoms, exercise mice showed better performance in different cognitive tests than sedentary mice (Rizzo et al., 2021). Investigations of the HC have shown that exercise counteracts the impaired synaptic plasticity during EAE. Furthermore, microglial activation was significantly milder in exercise mice compared to sedentary mice with EAE (Rizzo et al., 2021). In chronic EAE, less demyelination, less cell apoptosis and an enhanced neurogenesis together with higher BDNF levels could be detected in the HC of exercise mice compared to sedentary mice (Kim and Sung, 2017).

A direct transfer of the animal experiments to MS patients is difficult. On the one hand, many models of the experiments, e.g. exercise intervention before disease onset, are not possible. On the other hand, there are very limited techniques to study the HC in living patients. Sandroff et al. (2016) reviewed existing studies on the impact of exercise on cognition in MS patients. In conclusion, there seem to be indications of a beneficial effects, but studies show to be inconsistent in design and cognition is often not the primary endpoint of existing studies. Furthermore, there were major differences in the methods used to measure cognition (Sandroff et al., 2016). Various studies have attempted to design standardized exercise models for trials in MS patients, but so far, no uniform method has become established (Dalgas et al., 2009, Petajan and White, 1999, Rosenkranz et al., 2023). In general, exercise training was found to have a positive effect on various symptoms of MS, such as fatigue, pain and cognition (Dalgas et al., 2014). But no study has yet been shown a positive effect on the progressive disability correlating best with ongoing neurodegeneration (Heesen and

Rosenkranz, 2022, Dalgas et al., 2022, Motl and Sandroff, 2022). One reason for the lack of evidence that exercise has disease-modifying properties in MS patients could be the design of previous studies (Heesen and Rosenkranz, 2022). To date, there are no biomarkers that reliably reflect neurodegenerative processes such as those underlying cognitive impairment in MS patients, even though the requirements for future biomarkers are already the subject of current considerations (Rosenkranz et al., 2023). MRI studies are suitable for investigating brain functions and brain volume in living humans. An MRI imaging study has shown that cardiorespiratory fitness correlates positively with the volume of certain GM regions. At the same time, performance in cognitive tasks was improved (Prakash et al., 2010). Specific measurements of hippocampal volume showed a positive correlation between volume and cardiorespiratory fitness in MS patients (Motl et al., 2015). Similarly, an aerobic exercise intervention in cognitively impaired MS patients led to an increase in hippocampal volume and significantly improved memory function (Leavitt et al., 2014). Treadmill walking was shown to improve hippocampal neuroplasticity measured by an MRI technique investigating mechanical properties of hippocampal tissue in line with improved learning and memory (Sandroff et al., 2017). There is evidence that regular physical activity can delay the onset of the first symptoms of MS, such as cognitive impairment indicating preventive properties (Cortese et al., 2018, Wesnes et al., 2018). Underlying mechanisms of exercise-induced neuroprotective properties in MS are widely unknown. Increased peripheral blood levels of the neurotrophic factor BDNF were measured in MS patient following an exercise intervention (Schulz et al., 2004, Castellano and White, 2008, Briken et al., 2016), potentially contributing to the observed effects of exercise.

1.4 Aims

Cognitive impairment is a cardinal symptom of MS and at least partly attributed to neurodegenerative processes in the HC. The underlying mechanisms are largely unknown and resulting histological alterations in the HC differentially described in the literature. The first step is therefore to define the histological changes in the HC in a mouse model of MS, the EAE. Exercise has a range of neuroprotective properties. A non-stress-related exercise intervention will be used to evaluate the impact on the EAE disease course and hippocampal structures to confirm the effectiveness of the exercise model. Subsequently, exercise-induced changes in gene expression in exclusively hippocampal neurons will be analyzed, offering the potential to develop therapeutic approaches to improve cognition in patients with MS.

2 Material

2.1 Reagents and chemicals

Table 1: Reagents and chemicals for animal experiments

Name	Company
CO2/O2 gas mixture (80%/20%)	SOL
D(+)-Saccharose ≥39,5%	Carl Roth
DietGel [®] Recovery	Clear H2O
Dulbecco's phosphate buffered saline (DPBS)	PAN-Biotech
Freund's adjuvant, incomplete	Becton, Dickinson and Company
Isofluran	Baxter
Ketanest [®] S 25mg/ml (Ketamine)	Pfizer Pharma
Mouse/rat MOG35–55 peptide, MEVGWYRSPFSRVVHLYRNGK	Peptides & elephants
Mycobacterium tuberculosis H37	Becton, Dickinson and Company
Nekrolyt [®] Salbe	CP-Pharma
Paraformaldehyde (PFA) reinst	Carl Roth
Pertussis toxin (Bordetella pertussis)	Millipore
Rompun [®] 2% (Xylazine)	Bayer
Tissue-Tek [®] O.C.T.TM Compound	Sakura

Table 2: Reagents and chemicals for genotyping

Company
Thermo Fisher Scientific
Thermo Fisher Scientific
Thermo Fisher Scientific
Sigma-Aldrich
Thermo Fisher Scientific
Merck
Biomers
Lucigen
Carl Roth
Applichem
Invitrogen

Material

Table 3: Reagents and chemicals for cell culture

Name	Company
Cytosine β-D-arabinofuranoside	Sigma-Aldrich
Dulbecco's Modified Eagle Medium (DMEM), high glucose GlutamMAX [™] Supplement	Thermo Fisher Scientific
DPBS sterile filtered (1x)	Pan-biotech
Fetal Calf Serum (FCS)	Roth
Gibco [™] DMEM/F-12	Thermo Fisher Scientific
Gibco [™] GlutaMAX [™] Supplement	Thermo Fisher Scientific
Gibco [™] HBSS, no calcium, no magnesium	Thermo Fisher Scientific
Gibco [™] Opti-MEM [™]	Thermo Fisher Scientific
Gibco [™] TrypLE [™] Express Enzyme (1x)	Thermo Fisher Scientific
Gibco™ Trypsin-EDTA (0.05%), phenol red	Thermo Fisher Scientific
Penicillin-Streptomycin (10.000 U ml ⁻¹)	Invitrogen
PNGM [™] Primary NeuronGrowth Medium BulletKit [™]	Thermo Fisher Scientific
Poly-D-Lysine hydrobromide	Sigma–Aldrich
Trypan Blue solution 0.4%	Sigma-Aldrich

Table 4: Reagents and chemicals for IHC on cryosections and microscopy

Name	Company
AffiniPure Fab Fragment Donkey Anti-Mouse IgG (H+L)	Jackson ImmunoResearch
Immersol [™] 518 F	Zeiss
Normal Donkey Serum (NDS)	Merck
Pap Pen, Ready Probes [™] Hydrophobic Barrier	Thermo Fisher Scientific
Paraformaldehyde reinst	Carl Roth
Roti [®] -Mount FluorCare 4',6-diamidino-2-phenylindole (DAPI)	Carl Roth
Triton-X [®] 100 reinst	Carl Roth

Table 5: Reagents and chemicals for IHC on paraffin sections

Name	Company
Acetic acid puriss.	Merck
Antibody Diluent	ThermocFisher Scientific
Bluing Reagent	Ventana Roche
Cell Conditioning Solution 1	Ventana Roche

Cell Conditioning Solution 2	Ventana Roche
Certistain [®] , Eosin Y (yellowish)	Merck
Ethanol 96%, 100%	Apotheke UKE
EZ Prep Concentrate (10x)	Ventana Roche
Hematoxylin	Ventana Roche
Hematoxylin solution acc. To Harris	Roth
Histofine [®] Simple Stain [™] MAX PO (Rat, Mouse and Rabbit)	Nichirei Biosciences
Hydrochloric acid 25%	Merck
LCS (Predilute)	Ventana Roche
Lithium carbonate	Merck
Luxolechtblau MBS	Chroma-Gesellschaft Schmidt GmbH
Mayer's hemalum solution	Merck
Normal goat serum	Cell Signaling Technology
OSTEOSOFT [®]	Merck
Phloxine B	Merck
Reaction buffer Concentrate (10x)	Ventana Roche
Tissue-Tek [®] Glas [™] mounting medium	Sakura
Tissue-Tek [®] Paraffin Wax TEK III	Sakura
UltraView Universal 3,3'-diaminobenzidine (DAB) Detection Kit	Ventana Roche
Xylol, min 99.0%	TH. Geyer

Table 6: Reagents and chemicals for qPCR

Name	Company
2-Mercapthoethanol	Sigma-Aldrich
AllPrep [®] DNA/RNA Mini Kit	Qiagen
Ethanol ROTIPURAN® ≥99,8%	Carl Roth
RevertAid H Minus First Strand, cDNA Synthesis Kit	Thermo Scientific
RNAse-Free DNAse Set	Qiagen
RNase-Free Water	Qiagen
RNeasy [®] Mini Kit	Qiagen
TaqManTM Gene Expression Master Mix	Applied Biosystems

2.2 Antibodies

Table 7:	Primary	antibodies	for IHC	on cryosectio	ns
----------	---------	------------	---------	---------------	----

Name	Host	Clonality	Dilution	Company
Anti-alpha Actinin 4, HPA001873	rabbit	polyclonal	1:500	Merck
Anti-Calpain 1, ab155677	rabbit	polyclonal	1:500	Abcam
Anti-Doublecortin, ab18723	rabbit	polyclonal	1:500	Abcam
Anti-GFP, ab13970	chicken	polyclonal	1:1000	Abcam
Anti-Homer 1/2/3, 160 103	rabbit	polyclonal	1:500	Synaptic Systems
Anti-Iba1, 019-19741	rabbit	polyclonal	1:500	Wako
Anti-NeuN, ABN91	chicken	polyclonal	1:500	Millipore
Anti-NeuN, MAB377	mouse	monoclonal	1:200	Millipore/Chemicon
Anti-Synapsin 1/2, 106 004	guinea pig	polyclonal	1:500	Synaptic Systems
Anti-TRIM59, ab69639	rabbit	polyclonal	1:100	Abcam

Table 8: Primary antibodies for IHC on paraffin sections

Name	Host	Clonality	Dilution	Company
Anti-CD3, ab16669	rabbit	monoclonal	1:50	Abcam
Anti-Iba1, 019-19741	rabbit	polyclonal	1:1000	Wako

Table 9: Secondary Antibodies for IHC

Name	Clonality	Dilution	Company
Alexa Fluor® 488 Donkey Anti-chicken, 703- 545-155	polyclonal	1:600	Jackson ImmunoResearch
Alexa Fluor® 488 Donkey Anti-guinea pig, 706-545-148	polyclonal	1:600	Jackson ImmunoResearch
Alexa Fluor® 488 Donkey Anti-mouse, ab150105	polyclonal	1:600	Abcam
Alexa Fluor® 647 Donkey Anti-rabbit, ab181347	polyclonal	1:600	Abcam
Cy™3 donkey Anti-chicken, 703-165-155	polyclonal	1:600	Jackson ImmunoResearch
Cy [™] 3 Donkey Anti-guinea pig, 706-165-148	polyclonal	1:600	Jackson ImmunoResearch
Cy™3 donkey Anti-mouse, 715-166-150	polyclonal	1:600	Jackson ImmunoResearch

2.3 Primers

Table 10: Primers for qPCR

Name	Assay ID	Company
Actb	Mm00607939_s1	Taqman [™] by Applied Biosystems
Actn4	Mm00502489_m1	Taqman [™] by Applied Biosystems
Btk	Mm00442712_m1	Taqman [™] by Applied Biosystems
Capn1	Mm00482964_m1	Taqman [™] by Applied Biosystems
CD93	Mm00440239_g1	Taqman [™] by Applied Biosystems
Fzd9	Mm01206511_s1	Taqman [™] by Applied Biosystems
Gstk1	Mm00504022_m1	Taqman [™] by Applied Biosystems
Kif26a	Mm01339746_m1	Taqman [™] by Applied Biosystems
Тbp	Mm01277042_m1	Taqman [™] by Applied Biosystems
Tex9	Mm00493619_m1	Taqman [™] by Applied Biosystems
Trim59	Mm02527285_s1	Taqman [™] by Applied Biosystems

2.4 Buffers, solutions and media

Name	Ingredients
4% PFA	Dissolve 4 g PFA
	in 100 ml 80°C Phosphate Buffer 0.1M
	cool to 4°C
Blocking solution	0.1% Triton X-100
	10% NDS
	in 1 x Phosphate buffered saline (PBS)
Neuro-2A (N2A) medium	500 ml DMEM, high glucose GlutaMAX [™] Supplement
	10% FCS
	100 U ml-1 Penicillin-Streptomycin
	0,05% Amphotericin B
PBS, 10x, 7.4 pH	80g Natriumchlorid
	2g Kaliumchlorid
	17,8g Natriumhydrogenphosphat-Dihydrat

Table 11: Buffers, solutions and media

2,7g Kaliumhydrogenphosphat 2,7g Kaliumhydrogenphosphat

Tris-acetate-EDTA (TAE), 50X

2 M Tris 0.05 M EDTA 5.7% Acetic Acid in ddH2O

2.5 Consumables

Table 12: Consumables

Name	Company
384 Well PCR Plate	Biozym Scientific
96 Well PCR-Plate	Sarstedt
Biosphere® Filter Tips	Sarstedt
Biosphere® SafeSeal Tubes	Sarstedt
C-Chip, Neubauer Improved Disposable Counting Chamber	NanoEnTek
Cell Culture Dishes	Thermo Fisher Scientific
Cell scrapers, handle length 16 cm	Sarstedt
CELLSTAR® Cell Culture Multiwell plates	Greiner Bio-One
CELLSTAR® Polypropylene Tubes, 15 ml and 50 ml	Greiner Bio-One
Cover Slips, Ø 12 mm	Thermo Scientific
Deckgläser Stärke 1, 24x50 mm	Carl Roth
Filter tips	Sarstedt
Microscope slides, Superfrost® Plus	Thermo Scientific
Pasteur pipette glass, 230 mm	Heinz Herenz Medizinbedarf
PCR plate sealing tape	Sarstedt
Pipette tips	Sarstedt
QIAshredder [™] columns	Qiagen
RNAse Zap™	Invitrogen
SafeSeal Micro tubes	Sarstedt
Serological pipettes (sterile), 2ml, 5ml, 10ml and 25ml	Sarstedt
Shandon [™] Einweg-Ausgießform	Thermo Scientific
StarGuard® Comfort gloves	Starlab
Superfrost Plus Microscope Slides	VWR
Syringes, needles, cannulas	BD and Braun
Tissue culture flask T-157, T-25	Sarstedt

2.6 Software

Table 13: Software

Name	Company
Adobe Illustrater	Adobe
ImageJ (Fiji)	NIH, Bethesda
Manual Whole Slide Imaging (ManualWSI)	Microvisioneer
Mendeley Reference Manager	Elsevier
Microsoft Excel	Microsoft
NanoDrop 1000 V3.8.1	Thermo Fisher Scientific
Prism 8	GraphPad Software
QuantStudio [™] Real-Time PCR	Applied Biosystem
QuPath (0.2.0-m8)	GitHub
RQ Manager 1.2.1	Applied Biosystem
SDS 2.4	Applied Biosystem
Tbase Client 4Dv12sql	Tbase Server
ZEN black	Zeiss
ZEN blue	Zeiss

2.7 Equipment

Table 14: Equipment

Name	Company
7900HT Fast Real-Time PCR System	Applied biosystems
ASP300S Fully Enclosed Tissue Processor	Leica Biosystems
Biological Microscope CX43	Olympus
Biometra® Low Voltage Power Supply	Analytic Jena
Centrifuge 5417R	Eppendorf
Comfort Freezer (-20°C)	Liebherr
EG1160 Embedding Center, Dispenser + hot Plate	Leica Biosystems
Electrophoretic system	Peqlab
FlexCycler ²	Analytik Jena
Incubator (cell lines)	Memmert
Incubator (primary neurons)	Thermo Fisher Scientific
Intas Gel-documentation	Intas Science Imaging

Kimble®Kontes Disposable Pellet pestle Kontes² Pellet PestleTm LSM600 confocal laser scanning microscope Microme HM 560 Cryostat Microscope CX21 MR 3002 magnetic stirring hotplate Multifuge® 3 S-R Multifuge® 3L Centrifuge NanoDrop® 1000 Spectrophotometer Perfusion System Picus® NxT Electronical Pipettes **PIPETBOY** acu 2 Pipettes QuantStudio[™] 6 Flex Real-Time PCR System REAX 2000 Vortexer Refrigerator (4°C) RM25125 RTS The Essential Microtome Safe 2020 Biological Safety Cabinets Scale PM4000 Sprout[™] Microcentrifuge Staining jars StainTray slide staining system Surgical instruments Thermomixer 5436 Thermomixer comfort, 1.5 ml block TSX Series ultra-low freezers Ultra-low Temperature Freezer (-80°C) VACUBOY Handoperator VARIOLAB Mobilien W90 extraction tables **VENTANA BenchMark XT** Water bath Wild M3Z Stereo Microscope Willy Wheel

Merck **DWK Life Sciences** Zeiss Thermo Fisher Scientific Olympus Heidolph Heraeus Heraeus Thermo Fisher Scientific Ismatec Sartorius Integra Biosciences Sartorius, Ep Applied biosystems Heidolph Liebherr Leica Biosystems Thermo Fisher Scientific Mettler Toledo Biozym Marienfeld Merck **FST Fine Scientific Tools** Eppendorf Eppendorf Thermo Fisher Scientific Sanyo Integra Biosciences Waldner Roche GFL Gesellschaft für Laborbedarf Leica Biosystems Karlie

3 Methods

3.1 Mice

C57BL/6 wildtype mice were obtained from the Jackson Laboratory and *Lypd1-L10-eGFP* mice (background strain C57BL/6) were generated by The Rockefeller University and purchased from the Jackson Laboratory. Animals were housed and bred in the Central Animal Facility at the University Medical Center Hamburg-Eppendorf (UKE). Shortly before starting the experiments, mice were transferred to the local Animal Facility at the INIMS where the experiments were conducted. All mice were kept under specific pathogen-free conditions in individually ventilated cages with access to food and water ad libitum. All animal experiments were approved by the local ethics committee (Behörde für Soziales, Familie, Gesundheit und Verbraucherschutz in Hamburg) and approved by the Tierversuchsantrag 112-17.

3.2 Genotyping

In order to determine the genotype, biopsies were taken from the ears of mice at the age of three weeks. Biopsies were first lysed in QuickExtract[™] DNA Extraction Solution for 6 minutes at 65°C and 500 rpm followed by 2 minutes at 98°C and 350 rpm. The lysate was then cooled down on ice before the extracted gDNA could be used for PCR experiments. 23 µI PCR reaction mix was prepared containing 16.03 µl deionized H₂O, 2.5 µl DreamTag[™] Hot Start Green PCR Master Mix (10x), 0.5 µl dNTP Mix (10nM), 0.9 µl of each the forward (CGG CGA GCT GCA CGC TGC CGT CCT C) and reverse (CCT ACG GCG TGC AGT GC TTC AGC) egfp primer and 1 µl of each the forward (AGA GGG AAA TCG TGC GTG AC) and reverse (CAA TAG TGA TGA CCT GGC CGT) β-actin primer and 0.17 μl DreamTag[™] Hot Start Green DNA Polymerase. Finally, 2 µl of the gDNA lysate were added to the PCR reaction mix and the PCR was performed using the FlexCycler². First, the mixture incubated for 2 minutes at 94°C followed by 38 cycles of the following program. 30 seconds at 94°C, 30 seconds at 64°C and 30 seconds at 72°C. Subsequently, the mixture incubated for 5 minutes at 72°C and cooled down to 4°C. PCR products were separated by gel electrophoresis using a 1.5 % agarose gel in 1 x TAE buffer. Gel und buffer were heated up until agarose was completely dissolved and Roti®-Safe GelStain was added in a 1:20000 ratio. The solution was then filled into the gel chambers and incubated for 45 minutes until polymerization of the agarose. Thereafter, gel pockets were filled with 10 µl DNA GeneRuler 1 kb DNA Ladder or 20 µl of the PCR reaction mix containing amplified gDNA, respectively. The gel was run at 140 mV for approximately 20 minutes. The PCR resulted in gel bands at 350 bp (egfp) and 150 bp (β actin) (genotyping was performed by student assistants of the INIMS).

3.3 Experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis

Mice for EAE experiments without prior exercise experiments were all wildtype females with an age of 8-10 weeks. They were immunized by subcutaneous injection of 200 µg MOG₃₅₋₅₅ peptide in complete Freund's adjuvant containing 4 mg/ml *Mycobacterium tuberculosis.* Additionally, 200ng pertussis toxin was injected intraperitoneally at the same day and 48 h later (EAE's were performed by Charlotte Schubert and Nicola Rothammer). Mice for EAE experiments following eight weeks of an exercise experiment were all wildtype males. Regarding their higher age with 14 weeks, they were immunized by subcutaneous injection of 100 µg MOG₃₅₋₅₅ peptide in complete Freund's adjuvant containing 2 mg/ml *Mycobacterium tuberculosis.* Additionally, 100ng pertussis toxin was injected intraperitoneally at the same day and 48 h later. Mice were scored daily starting at day six postimmunization by the following clinical signs: 0, no clinical deficits; 1, tail weakness; 2, hind limb paresis; 3, partial hind limb paralysis; 3.5, full hind limb paralysis; 4, full hind limb paralysis and forelimb paresis; 5, premorbid or dead. Animals with a clinical score of ≥ 4 were killed according to the Animal Welfare Act. During EAE experiments, soft food was provided ad libitum.

3.4 Exercise setting

Mice for exercise experiments were wildtype and *Lypd1-L10-eGFP* mice of both genders, which were randomly assigned to either the exercise or the sedentary cohort. Animals joining the exercise cohort were individually housed in type III cages with free access to a functional running wheel they could voluntarily use during the whole experiment. Animals in the sedentary cohort were housed in identical cages but with magnetically blocked running wheels. To measure the running distance of exercise mice, wheels were connected to a counting instrument. With knowledge of the wheels' extent (Ø: 13 cm), the running distance in km/24h could be calculated for each exercise mouse (exercise experiments without subsequent EAE induction performed with help from Lukas Raich). The experimental set-up was built by Torsten Renz.

3.5 Perfusion

Mice were deeply anesthetized by the intraperitoneal injection (100 μ I per 10 g body weight) of Ketamine/Xylazine (12 mg ml⁻¹/ 1.6 mg ml⁻¹) in 1 x PBS. Subsequently, mice were transcardially perfused with cold 1 x PBS for 3 minutes to eliminate the blood. In order to generate tissue for IHC, perfusion with 1 x PBS was followed by the perfusion with 4% PFA

for 7 minutes to fixate the tissue (perfusion was performed with help of Vanessa Vieira and Nina Kursawe).

3.6 Histological analysis

3.6.1 Tissue preparation

Tissue preparation for cryosections

For immunohistochemical experiments on cryosections, brains were manually dissected from the skull und post-fixated in 4% PFA for another 30 minutes. Brains were dehydrated and cryoprotected in 30% sucrose solution in 1 x PBS for at least one week at 4°C and thereafter embedded in TissueTek[®] for storage at -80°C. The whole brains were cut into 12 µm thick cryosections using a cryostat, mounted on glass slides and stored at -80°C.

Tissue preparation for paraffin sections

Brains inside the cranial bone were dissected from mice, postfixated in 4% PFA for 24 h and stored in 1 x PBS, both at 4°C. Further tissue preparation procedures and immunohistochemical stainings were performed by the UKE Mouse Pathology Facility. For decalcification, brains incubated in Osetosoft for 10 days, subsequently dehydrated overnight inside the tissue processor and embedded in paraffin by the Embedding center. Brains were cut with a microtome into 3 μ m thick slices and transferred on glass slides. For paraffin removal, slices were incubated in Xylol for 20 minutes and thereafter in decreasing dilutions of ethanol three minutes each (100%, 96%, 90%, 80%, 70%). Finally, slides were rinsed for 5 minutes in ddH20.

3.6.2 Immunohistochemistry on paraffin and cryosections

Immunohistochemical DAB staining for IBA1 and CD3 on cryosections and paraffin sections was performed by the automated Ventana BenchMark XT. The system automatically deparaffinized slices, stained them with antibodies against IBA1 and CD3 and visualized the staining by the Universal DAB detection kit and associated kits and reagents following the manufacturer's instructions. In order to counterstain DAB stained tissue, sections incubated with Bluing Reagent and Hematoxylin for 4 minutes each. Sections were manually scanned with a microscope using the ManualWSI software. For fluorescent immunohistochemical staining, cryosections were air dried, washed in 1 x PBS for 5 minutes and thereafter incubated with blocking solution (10% NDS in 0.1% Triton X-100 in 1 x PBS) for 45 minutes at room temperature. When antibodies from mouse hosts were used, a further blocking step to avoid
unspecific binding of antibodies was performed. Therefore, AffiniPure Fab Fragment Donkey Anti-Mouse IgG (H+L) was diluted 1:200 in 0.1% Triton X-100 and sections were incubated for 1 h at room temperature followed by a washing step in 1 x PBS. After this intermediate step or after incubation with blocking solution, respectively, slices were incubated with primary antibodies diluted in 3% NDS in 0.1% Triton X-100 in 1 x PBS overnight at 4°C. The next day, sections were washed three times in 1 x PBS and incubated with fluorophore-labelled secondary antibodies diluted in 3% NDS in 0.1% Triton X-100 in 1 x PBS for 2.5 h at room temperature. The stained sections were washed three times in 1 x PBS and covered by coverslips. Sections dried protected from light overnight at room temperature before they were stored at 4°C. All images were taken with a laser scanning microscope (LSM 600, Zeiss) and identical settings within each experiment.

3.6.3 Immunohistochemical analyses

Quantification of adult and newborn neurons

For quantification of adult and newborn neurons, cryosections of the brain were stained for NeuN as a biomarker for adult neurons and DCX to visualize neuronal precursor cells. Z-stack images covering the thickness of the whole slices and representing the areas CA1, CA3 and the DG of the left HC were taken using a x20 magnification and 0.5 Zoom. Analysis was performed with the ImageJ software. Adult and newborn neurons were manually counted within regions of interest (ROI) of same size and comparable localization between mice (two ROIs within CA1, one ROI for each CA3 and the DG). Up to two hippocampal sections were analyzed per animal. Counterstaining with DAPI was used to identify and separate neuronal cell bodies.

Quantification of synaptic density

The quantification of synaptic density was performed by staining cryosections of the brain for Synapsin 1/2 as a presynaptic and Homer 1/2/3 as a postsynaptic marker. Four images per animal at comparable localization within the stratum radiatum of the hippocampal CA (two images in the CA1 region and one image in each CA2 and CA3) were taken with x63 magnification. ROIs of same size and comparable localization were analyzed with ImageJ within these images. A synapse was defined as the overlap of pre- and postsynapse represented by colocalization of Synapsin1/2 and Homer 1/2/3 and detected by the image calculator plugin. Subsequently, stained particles of each partner as well as colocalizations were automatically quantified with the analyze particles plugin. Mean fluorescence intensity (MFI) of both Synapsin 1/2 and Homer 1/2/3 was measured in the regions of colocalization.

Quantification of T cells and microglial activation

To visualize immune cells, antibodies against CD3 for T cells and IBA1 for microglia were used on deparaffinized (CD3 and IBA1) or frozen (IBA1) brain sections. For quantification, the left HC in up to three sections per animal was analyzed with the QuPath software. The entire hippocampal parenchyma was defined with help of the Coronal Allen Mouse Brain Atlas and circled by the polygon tool in QuPath. Within this area and along the meninges, CD3⁺ cells were manually counted. To quantify microglial activation, the IBA1 stained area was automatically quantified by the positive pixel count tool after preprocessing the image in order to estimate stain vectors.

Immunohistochemical validation of bacTRAP candidates

For the immunohistochemical validation of candidates from the hippocampal bacterial artificial chromosome-translating ribosome affinity purification (bacTRAP), cryosections of *Lypd1-L10-eGFP* mice were stained for Tripartite Motif-Containing Protein 59 (TRIM59), Alpha-Actinin-4 (ACTN4) and Calpain-1 (CAPN1). Images from up to three slices of the left HC and comparable regions in CA1 were taken with x40 magnification and 0.7 Zoom for TRIM59 validation and 0.5 Zoom for ACTN4 and CAPN1 validation, respectively. Analysis was performed with the ImageJ software. To quantify protein expression, the MFI of all neurons within the CA1 region in an image was measured using the threshold and analyze particles plugins. Subsequently, the MFI in exclusively GFP⁺ neurons representing the neurons analyzed by the bacTRAP was determined. For this, the Image Calculator plugin was used to analyze colocalizing regions of GFP and candidate protein.

3.7 Cell culture

3.7.1 Primary hippocampal neurons

If not mentioned otherwise, all procedures were carried out at 4°C or on ice. In order to culture primary hippocampal neurons, pregnant mice were sacrificed by CO₂ inhalation when embryos reached embryonic day 16.5. Embryos were collected from the uterus, placed in Hank's Balanced Salt Solution (HBSS) and decapitated. HC were dissected from brain and placed in HBSS until they settled to the bottom of the tube. For cell dissociation, HC were incubated for 6 minutes at 37°C in Trypsin/EDTA. HC were placed in DMEM containing FCS until settling to the bottom, incubated in HBSS and dissociated using a pipette followed by centrifugation for 2 min at 600g. The supernatant was aspirated and palleted cells were dissolved in PNGM. 10 µl of the cell solution were mixed with equal amounts of Trypan blue whereafter cells were counted in a Neubauer chamber. Subsequently, cells in PNGM were seeded with a density of

50.000-100.000 cells/cm² to Poly-D-Lysine coated wells. For RNA purification, cells were seeded in 6 well plates without coverslips. To inhibit growth of glial cells Cytosin-D-Arabinofuranoside was added to the wells 72h later. After 14 days in culture, cells were either used for qPCR experiments (experiments with primary hippocampal neurons were performed with help of Lukas Raich).

3.7.2 N2A cells

Cells from the neuroblastoma cell line N2A were purchased from ATCC Manufacturing. Cells were cultured in TC flasks with N2A medium. When 80% confluence of the flask was reached, cells were passaged as followed. The medium was discarded and cells were washed in 1x DPBS followed by an incubation step in TrypLETM at 37°C in order to detach cells from the flask surface. After 3 minutes, N2A medium was added and cell density was determined by counting in a Neubauer chamber as described previously. Suspended cells were subsequently cultured in new TC flasks. Up to 25 passages were performed until cells were used for RNA purification as already described for primary hippocampal neurons.

3.8 RNA/DNA purification and cDNA synthesis

3.8.1 RNA purification from cells

In order to prepare cells for RNA purification, they were cultured on 6 well plates with a density of 50.000-100.000 cells/cm² as described previously, washed in 1 ml cold 1 x DPBS and subsequently removed from wells by cell scrapers in a second wash of cold 1 x DPBS. Cells in DPBS were centrifugated at 3500 x g for 5 minutes and supernatant was removed. The cell pallet was snap-frozen in liquid nitrogen and stored at -80°C until further use. RNA isolation was performed using the RNeasy Mini Kit and according to the manufacturer's instructions. Shortly, pellets were solved in 350 μ l RLT buffer containing 2-mercaptoethanol and homogenized by QIAshredder columns. After adding 350 μ l 70% ethanol to the homogenized lysate and a centrifugation step in a RNeasy spin column, DNAse digestion was performed using the RNAse-Free DNAse Set and according to the manufacturer's instructions. Shortly, 80 μ l DNAse I incubation mix was added to the spin column followed by an incubation time of 15 minutes. RNA purification was now performed by several washing steps with different solutions and consecutive centrifugation. Finally, the purified RNA was eluted in 50 μ l RNAse-free water and total RNA content was measured by the NanoDrop.

Methods

3.8.2 cDNA synthesis

0.1 ng - 5000 ng RNA per 11 µl RNAse free water were reverse transcribed using the RevertAid cDNA Synthesis Kit. All steps were performed according to the manufacturer's instruction. Shortly, 1µl random hexamer primer was added to the isolated RNA followed by 5 minutes of incubation at 65°C. Subsequently, a mixture containing Reaction Buffer, RNase inhibitor RiboLock, 10mM dNTP mix and RevertAid H Minus M-MuLV Reverse Transcriptase was added. This mixture was incubated for 5 minutes at 25°C, 60 minutes at 42°C and finally 5 minutes at 70°C. Total cDNA concentration was measured by the NanoDrop. cDNA concentration was adjusted by dilution with RNAse free water to the sample containing the lowest amount of cDNA.

3.9 Quantitative real-time polymerase chain reaction

For qPCR, the cDNA was diluted 1:10 or 1:5. All steps were performed according to the manufacturer's instruction. Summarized, one PCR reaction mix for each gene of interest was prepared containing 2 x TaqMan Gene Expression Master Mix, RNAse free water and the respective TaqMan Gene Expression Assay. 8µl PCR reaction mix was added to each well of a 96-well or 384-well plate followed by 2 µl cDNA. Triplicates or Duplicates were used for each gene of interest and each cDNA sample. As a negative control, duplicates of each reaction mix and RNAse free water instead of cDNA were added to a respective number of wells. The qPCR was performed with the SDS 2.4 software for 96-well plates or the QuantStudioTM Real-Time PCR software for 384-well plates. The thermal profile was adjusted as followed. Initially, the plates incubated for 2 minutes at 50°C followed by a denaturation step for 10 minutes at 95°C. The annealing step was carried out for 1 minute at 60°C. Up to 45 cycles were performed. The mean CT value from the triplicates of each gene of interest was calculated and analyzed by the $\Delta\Delta$ Ct method. mRNA expression was normalized to the housekeeping gene TATA-binding protein (*Tbp*).

3.10 Statistical analysis

Graphs were created and statistics performed with Prism 8. All data are presented as mean values \pm standard error of the mean (SEM). Parametric data were tested for normality by the Shapiro-Wilk normality test. Differences between normally distributed, parametric data sets were analyzed by the unpaired, two-tailed Student's t-test. Non-parametric and parametric but not normally distributed data were analyzed by the two-tailed Mann-Whitney test. For analysis of the Kaplan-Meyer curve, the log-rank (Mantel-Cox) test was used. P < 0.05 was considered as significant (*) and P < 0.01 as highly significant (**).

4.1 Characterization of hippocampal changes in EAE

The overall aim of this work is to define neuroprotective properties of an exercise intervention potentially attenuating the EAE disease course. Of particular interest is the HC with its various and essential functions. In EAE mice, spatial memory deficits are present even before motor symptoms occur even though EAE is known to primarily injure the spinal cord (Dutra et al., 2013, Kim et al., 2012). This could be related to a hippocampal impairment, but the nature and extent of these changes are still poorly and differentially described in the literature (see Chapter 1.2.3). For the matter of comparability, it is necessary to define the hippocampal changes resulting from the EAE protocol illustrated above to evaluate protective effects of an exercise intervention. Therefore, the degree of inflammation and neurodegenerative alterations were analyzed at different time points of EAE via IHC to visualize distinct proteins. **Figure 4.1** illustrates the experimental design and timepoints of hippocampal analysis.



Figure 4.1 Characterization of hippocampal changes in EAE

Experimental design to identify hippocampal alterations during the EAE disease course. EAE was induced in mice with MOG₃₅₋₅₅ peptide in complete CFA containing *M. tuberculosis* and PTX. A second dose of PTX was injected at day 3 postimmunization. Mice were sacrificed at either day 15 (acute EAE) or day 30 (chronic EAE) postimmunization to analyze the parameters shown underneath the graph via IHC. The graph represents the EAE disease course measured by a clinical scoring system schematically over 30 days starting at day 0 as the day of immunization. The clinical symptoms of mice are also shown by the hind limb and tail paralysis of mice on top of the graph (Created with BioRender.com).

4.1.1 Hippocampal inflammation in acute EAE

To confirm an inflammatory response in the HC in our EAE model, immunohistochemical staining for T lymphocytes and microglia was performed on hippocampal slices from mice at day 15 postimmunization and healthy mice. Day 15 is considered as the acute phase of EAE with the main part of immune cell infiltration and activation. Clinically, mice are rapidly starting to develop symptoms around day 12 postimmunization, starting with tail and hind limb weakness. To detect potential immune cell infiltration in the HC, wildtype mice were immunized with MOG₃₅₋₅₅ peptide as described above and killed at day 15 postimmunization simultaneously with healthy controls of the same age. All mice were perfused and the brain was processed in order to use it for immunohistochemical staining as previously described. Thereafter, coronal paraffin sections containing the hippocampal formation were stained for CD3 to visualize T lymphocytes (Figure 4.2A) according to the DAB staining protocol. The numbers of CD3⁺ cells were then manually counted in meninges and hippocampal parenchyma. T lymphocytes showed to predominantly infiltrate the hippocampal meninges in EAE mice and there was a significantly increased count of T lymphocytic infiltration detectable in the meninges and hippocampal parenchyma compared to healthy controls, where rarely one CD3⁺ cell was detectable (Figure 4.2B). To analyze activation of resident immune cells in the HC, microglia were visualized by staining of IBA1 (Figure 4.2C). Subsequently, the IBA1-stained area was quantified and is presented as the percentage of the whole hippocampal region. In acute EAE, microglia occupied a significantly larger area in comparison to heathy state (Figure 4.2D).



Figure 4.2 Hippocampal inflammation in acute EAE

A, Representative immunohistochemical DAB-stainings of T lymphocytes (CD3) in HC and meninges of mice with acute EAE (15 days postimmunization) compared to healthy mice performed by UKE Mouse Pathology Facility. Scale bar, 1000µm. **B**, Quantification of T lymphocytes (CD3) in HC and meninges of mice with acute EAE compared to healthy mice (two-tailed Student's t-test; n = 4 healthy versus n = 6 acute EAE mice; HC, t(10) = 4.043, P = 0.0037; meninges, t(10) = 2.314, P = 0.0494). **C**, Representative immunohistochemical DAB-stainings of microglia (IBA1) in the HC of mice with acute EAE compared to healthy mice performed by UKE Mouse Pathology Facility. Scale bar, 500µm. **D**, Quantification of the IBA⁺ area in % of the whole hippocampal formation of mice with acute EAE compared to healthy mice (two-tailed Student's t-test; n = 4 healthy versus n = 6 acute EAE mice; t(10) = 3.572, P = 0.0073). Results are presented as mean value +/- s.e.m. *P < 0.05. **P < 0.01.

4.1.2 Reduction of adult hippocampal neurons in chronic EAE

With knowledge that the HC is affected by immune cell infiltration and activation during EAE, further immunohistochemical analysis were performed in order to define potential hippocampal neurodegenerative processes during the EAE disease course. Of particular interest is the question whether the number of mature neurons is altered in EAE. Wildtype mice were again immunized with EAE reagents and sacrificed at day 30 postimmunization together with healthy

controls of the same age. This is considered to represent the chronic phase of EAE. Clinically, mice are partly recovering after the acute phase in terms of their clinical symptoms. Nevertheless, neurodegenerative processes can be studied best in the chronic phase (Voskuhl and MacKenzie-Graham, 2022). After sacrificing and perfusing the animals, brains were dissected from skull and processed in order to perform IHC on cryosections containing the hippocampal formation. Mature neurons were visualized using a primary ab binding NeuN. After adding the secondary ab and additional staining of all nuclei (DAPI), NeuN⁺ cells were visualized using a laser scanning microscope. Representative images were taken from the CA1 as well as CA3 part of the HC (Figure 4.3A) and NeuN⁺ cells were counted within regions of defined size and comparable localization for each mouse (Figure 4.3B). Interestingly, there was a highly significant reduction of NeuN⁺ cells detectable within the CA1 region of the HC exclusively. Additionally, the thickness of CA1 was measured and compared between healthy and EAE animals. Nevertheless, this effect could not reach significance (Figure 4.3C).



Figure 4.3 Hippocampal cell count in chronic EAE

A, Immunohistochemical staining of adult neurons (NeuN) in the HC. To analyze changes in neuronal cell count, neurons in the labelled regions of CA1 and CA3 of the HC were counted in healthy and mice with chronic EAE (30 days postimmunization). Scale bar, 500µm **B**, Representative immunohistochemical stainings of adult neurons (NeuN) and neuronal nuclei (DAPI) to distinguish neuronal cell bodies in CA1 of mice with chronic EAE compared to healthy mice. Scale bar, 50µm. **C**, Quantification of adult neurons in CA1 and CA3 and average thickness of the CA1 region of mice with chronic EAE compared to healthy versus n = 7 chronic EAE mice; neurons CA1, t(14) = 2.675, P = 0.0202; thickness CA1, t(14) = 1.827, P = 0.0926; neurons CA3, t(14) = 1.923, P = 0.0785). Results are presented as mean value +/- s.e.m. *P < 0.05. **P < 0.01.

4.1.3 Impairment of hippocampal neurogenesis in chronic EAE

Neurogenesis is an extremely interesting phenomenon especially in terms of an exercise intervention. Due to divergent opinions in the literature (see Chapter 1.2.3), the analysis of neurogenesis dynamics during EAE was indicated. One of the questions addressed by this investigation is whether the neuronal cell loss during EAE can be explained by neurodegeneration only or whether impaired neurogenesis also contributes to this observation. DCX was used as a marker for newborn and NeuN as a marker for adult neurons. EAE-induced wildtype mice were sacrificed either on day 15 (acute EAE) or day 30 (chronic EAE) postimmunization together with age-matched healthy controls respectively. Fluorescence-based IHC was used to visualize these markers on cryosections of the mouse brain. Since neurogenesis takes place in the DG of the HC, representative images were taken from this region (Figure 4.4A). DCX⁺ cells which did not show any NeuN positivity were counted within the images compared between healthy and EAE animals (Figure 4.4B). There was no difference detectable between healthy mice and mice with acute EAE whereas mice with chronic EAE showed a significant decline of newborn neurons (Figure 4.4C). This indicates, that chronic EAE somehow impairs neurogenesis in the DG of wildtype mice.



Figure 4.4 Hippocampal neurogenesis in acute and chronic EAE

A, Immunohistochemical staining of adult neurons (NeuN) in the HC. To analyze changes in neurogenesis, newborn neurons in the labelled region (DG) of the HC were counted in healthy mice and mice with acute EAE (15 days postimmunization) and chronic EAE (30 days postimmunization). Scale bar, 500µm. **B**, Representative immunohistochemical stainings of newborn neurons (DCX) and adult neurons (NeuN) in the DG in healthy mice and mice with acute and chronic EAE. Scale bar, 100µm. **C**, Quantification of newborn neurons in the DG of mice with acute and chronic EAE compared to healthy mice (two-tailed Student's t-test; n = 5 healthy versus n = 5 acute EAE mice, t(10) = 0.6009, P = 0.5645; n = 5 healthy versus n = 5 chronic EAE mice, t(10) = 3.561, P = 0.0074). Results are presented as mean value +/- s.e.m. *P < 0.05. **P < 0.01.

4.1.4 Reduction of hippocampal synaptic density in chronic EAE

In order to investigate possible alteration of cell-cell interaction, the synaptic density was determined in wildtype mice with chronic EAE compared to healthy mice. EAE was induced as described before and animals were perfused at day 30 of EAE together with age-matched healthy mice. Fluorescence-based IHC on cryosections was used to detect presynapse and postsynapse. An ab against Synapsin 1/2 was used to visualize the presynapse and Homer 1/2/3 as a marker for the postsynapse. Images were taken from comparable regions in the stratum radiatum in CA1, CA2 and CA3 (Figure 4.5A) and automatically analyzed by the puncta analyzer from ImageJ (Fiji). First, the count of exclusively Synapsin 1/2⁺ particles as well as exclusively Homer 1/2/3⁺ particles was determined for each area. Interestingly, there was no difference detectable in CA1, CA2 and CA3 regarding Synapsin 1/2⁺ and Homer 1/2/3⁺

particles (Figure 4.5C-D). Furthermore, synaptic contacts were quantified defined as the overlap of Synapsin 1/2⁺ and Homer 1/2/3⁺ particles. Only in CA1 there was a significant reduction of synaptic contacts detectable (Figure 4.5E).





A, Immunohistochemical staining of presynapse (Synapsin 1/2), postsynapse (Homer 1/2/3) and neurons (NeuN) in the HC. To analyze changes in synaptic density, synapses in the labelled regions (CA1, CA2 and CA3) of the HC were counted in healthy mice and mice with chronic EAE (30 days postimmunization). Scale bar, 500µm. **B**, Representative immunohistochemical stainings of presynapse (Synapsin 1/2) and postsynapse (Homer 1/2/3) and visualization of synaptic contacts by merging the stainings in healthy mice and mice in chronic EAE. Scale bar, 10µm. **C-E**, Quantification of postsynapses

(C), presynapse (D) and synapses (E) in CA1, CA2 and CA3 in mice with chronic EAE compared to healthy mice (two-tailed Student's t-test; n = 7 healthy versus n = 7 chronic EAE mice; postsynapse CA1, t(14) = 0.1583, P = 0.8769; postsynapse CA2, t(14) = 0.1585, P = 0.8767; postsynapse CA3, t(14) = 0.3460, P = 0.7353; presynapse CA1, t(14) = 0.06394, P = 0.9501; presynapse CA2, t(14) = 0.001213, P = 0.9991; presynapse CA3, t(14) = 0.7423, P = 0.4722; synapses CA1, t(14) = 2.391, P = 0.0341; synapses CA2, t(14) = 1.191, P = 0.2566; synapses CA3, t(14) = 1.898, P = 0.0820). Results are presented as mean value +/- s.e.m. *P < 0.05. **P < 0.01.

Taken together, the HC presents to be negatively affected by EAE. In acute EAE, there is a significant increase in immune cell infiltration and activation detectable. During chronic EAE, neurodegenerative processes can be seen characterized by impaired hippocampal neurogenesis as well as a decrease in neuronal cell count and synaptic density in the CA1 region exclusively. This provides the basis for the further experiments investigating potential protective effects of an exercise intervention with focus on the CA1 region.

4.2 Impact of exercise on the EAE disease course

4.2.1 Exercise ameliorates the EAE disease course

To investigate whether a chronic exercise intervention ameliorates the clinical EAE disease score, EAE was induced subsequent to an exercise versus sedentary intervention. For this, mice were individually housed in cages with either a blocked or functional running wheel for eight weeks. To avoid a stressful exercise environment, mice in the exercise EAE cohort could use their running wheel voluntarily during the whole experiment including the 30 day of EAE (Figure 4.6A). Functional running wheels were connected to a counting instrument to control and record the running distance twice a week (Figure 4.6B). One mouse was excluded due to a markedly small running distance. After this period of eight weeks, EAE was induced in exercise and sedentary animals by injection of MOG35-55 peptide in complete Freund's adjuvant containing Mycobacterium tuberculosis together with pertussis toxin. Mice were sacrificed at day 30 postimmunization. The Kaplan-Meier graph illustrates EAE disease progression in the exercise and sedentary cohort shown as the percentage of healthy mice during EAE disease course (Figure 4.6C). Two mice in the exercise EAE cohort did not develop any EAE symptoms and had therefore to be excluded for further statistical analysis because reasons for the failure of EAE induction other than the exercise intervention could not be ruled out. Altogether, the exercise EAE cohort presented with a significantly milder disease course calculated as the cumulative score over 30 days of EAE (Figure 4.6D). Furthermore, the maximum score which is normally reached in the acute EAE was significantly decreased in mice with exercise intervention (Figure 4.6E). However, analysis of the day of disease onset, meaning the day on which mice initially showed typical EAE symptoms, did not reveal significant differences between groups (Figure 4.6F). A cardinal symptom in mice with EAE is weight loss often starting before clinical symptoms such as tail weakness. Mice were weighed

every day starting at day six postimmunization. Analysis of the normalized weight development revealed that animals in the exercise EAE cohort suffered from a significantly lower weight loss. They furthermore recovered from initial weight loss and regained the weight from day of immunization. This was not the case for the sedentary EAE cohort (Figure 4.6G). Taken together, mice with eight weeks of voluntary exercise intervention preceding EAE induction showed an ameliorated disease course regarding clinical score and weight development.



Figure 4.6 Experimental setup and impact of exercise on the EAE disease course

A, Experimental design to identify alterations in the clinical EAE disease course in exercise mice compared to sedentary mice. Mice were randomly assigned to either the exercise or sedentary cohort. After eight weeks, all mice were induced with EAE as described before and sacrificed at day 30 postimmunization (Created with BioRender.com). B, Demonstration of the running distance of exercise mice during the eight weeks preceding EAE induction measured by a counting instrument connected to the running wheels (n = 23). C, Kaplan- Meier graph illustrating EAE disease progression in the exercise and sedentary cohort shown as the percentage of healthy mice during EAE disease course (log-rank (Mantel-Cox) test; n = 11 exercise versus n = 12 sedentary mice; Chi square = 7.535, P = 0.0061). D, Clinical scores of exercise and sedentary mice undergoing EAE (Mann Whitney test of cumulative EAE score: n = 8 exercise versus n = 12 sedentary mice, Man-Whitney U = 21, P = 0.0387). E-F, Maximum score (E) and day of disease onset (F) of exercise and sedentary mice undergoing EAE (two-tailed Student's t-test; n = 8 exercise versus n = 12 sedentary mice; maximum score, t(20) = 2.288, P = 0.0345; day of disease onset, t(20) = 1.624, P = 0.1218). G, Normalized weight development of exercise and sedentary mice undergoing EAE from day of immunization until day 30 postimmunization (Mann Whitney test of normalized weight development; n = 8 exercise versus n = 12 sedentary mice, Man-Whitney U = 15, P = 0.0096). Results are presented as mean value +/- s.e.m. *P < 0.05. **P < 0.01.

4.3 Exercise-induced hippocampal changes

4.3.1 Morphological hippocampal changes due to exercise

Due to the multiple and complex effects of exercise on the EAE disease course, the analysis of exercise-induced changes in the HC without EAE was conducted to concentrate on neuroprotective effects in absence of inflammatory the impacts. For this, immunohistochemical analysis was performed on brain slides from mice after an exercise intervention compared to sedentary mice. As described before, mice were randomly assigned to a cage with either a functional or blocked running wheel and individually housed for eight weeks (Figure 4.7A). Mice were sacrificed and cryosections of the HC were analyzed for microglial activation as described before to identify potential influences of exercise on hippocampal inflammation. There was no significant difference detectable between groups (Figure 4.7B). Another cohort of mice underwent the same experimental protocol and was sacrificed in order to determine changes in neuronal cell count, amount of neurogenesis and synaptic density via fluorescence-based IHC. Interestingly, only hippocampal neurogenesis was significantly enhanced (Figure 4.7C) while there was only a trend for the numbers of adult neurons. The synaptic density was not altered by the exercise intervention (Figure 4.7D-G).



Figure 4.7 Hippocampal changes due to exercise

A, Experimental design to identify hippocampal alterations due to an exercise intervention. Mice were randomly assigned to either the exercise or sedentary cohort for eight weeks and sacrificed to analyze the HC via IHC. **B**, Quantification of the IBA⁺ area in % of the whole hippocampal formation of exercise compared to sedentary mice (Mann Whitney test; n = 8 exercise versus n = 7 sedentary mice, Man-Whitney U = 27, P = 0.9551). **C**, Quantification of newborn neurons in the DG of exercise compared to sedentary mice (two-tailed Student's t-test; n = 7 exercise versus n = 6 sedentary mice, t(13) = 2.261, P = 0.0450). **D**, Quantification of adult neurons in CA1 and CA3 and average thickness of the CA1 region of exercise compared to sedentary mice; neurons CA1, t(8) = 2.321, P = 0.0593; thickness CA1, t(8) = 1.406, P = 0.2093; neurons CA3, t(8) = 2.286, P = 0.0623). **E-G**, Quantification of postsynapses (E), presynapses (F) and synapses (G) in CA1, CA2 and CA3 in exercise compared to sedentary mice; postsynapse CA1, t(14) = 0.8219, P = 0.4272; postsynapse CA2,

t(14) = 1.067, P = 0.3068; postsynapse CA3, t(14) = 0.6556, P = 0.5244; presynapse CA1, t(14) = 0.2862, P = 0.7796; presynapse CA2, t(14) = 0.2103, P = 0.8369; presynapse CA3, t(14) = 1.113, P = 0.2876; synapses CA1, t(14) = 0.3945, P = 0.7001; synapses CA2, t(14) = 0.5183, P = 0.6137; synapses CA3, t(14) = 0.5755, P = 0.5756). Results are presented as mean value +/- s.e.m. *P < 0.05. **P < 0.01.

4.3.2 Hippocampal gene expression after exercise

In addition to the analysis of morphological exercise-induced hippocampal alterations, investigation of changes in neuronal gene expression in hippocampal neurons due to exercise was conducted. For this purpose, the bacTRAP method was used to isolate the cell-type specific mRNA of exclusively hippocampal neurons as described above (Heiman et al., 2014). Briefly, mRNA was isolated from hippocampal tissue from Lypd1-L10-eGFP mice after eight weeks of voluntary exercise compared to sedentary mice. In this mouse line, the ribosomal protein L10 is transcribed in fusion with eGFP under the promoter Lypd1 which is specifically expressed in hippocampal neurons. Via isolation, cell-specific ribosome-bound mRNA of hippocampal neurons could be analyzed and compared between groups by overrepresentation analysis of biological process gene ontology (GO) terms. BacTrap experiment and evaluation was performed by Lukas Raich and results are not shown in detail at this point. Comparison of gene expression profiles visualized in heat maps revealed interesting candidate genes up- or downregulated in hippocampal neurons following the exercise intervention. First, validation of these genes via gPCR was conducted to confirm mRNA expression in hippocampal neurons, hippocampal tissue and N2A cells (experiments were performed with help of Lukas Raich).

Validating the expression of candidate genes in hippocampal neurons via qPCR

BacTRAP is a new and specific method to analyze mRNA expression. To validate gene expression of interesting candidate genes showing altered expression due to exercise in primary hippocampal neurons, embryos were collected from the uterus of pregnant mice at embryonic day 16.5. and sacrificed. HC were dissected from brain and hippocampal cells were dissociated and dissolved. Neurons were seeded in 6 well plates for RNA purification using the RNeasy Mini Kit according to the manufacturer's instructions. Next, RNA was transcribed into cDNA and used for qPCR. To verify gene expression, respective TaqMan Gene Expression Assays for *Cd93*, *Btk*, *Fzd9*, *Gstk1*, *Pax2*, *Trim59*, *Tex9*, *Kif26a*, *Capn1* and *Actn4* were added and expression was normalized to the housekeeping gene *Tbp* as demonstrated in **Figure 4.8**. Furthermore, mRNA from hippocampal neurons isolated from HC of *Lypd1-L10-eGFP* mice during the bacTRAP experiment performed by Lukas Raich as well as mRNA form cultured N2A cells was isolated, measured and transcribed into cDNA. Again, gene expression of the same genes mentioned above was quantified via qPCR and relative expression was normalized to *Tbp* (**Figure 4.8**). Interestingly, *Actn4*, *Capn1* and *Trim59* were the most highly

expressed candidate genes in hippocampal neurons from *Lypd1-L10-eGFP* mice and N2A cells (Figure 4.8). As literature research revealed interesting neuronal functions as discussed later in this work, these three genes were selected in order to identify neuroprotective properties potentially contributing to the ameliorated EAE disease course after an exercise intervention.



Figure 4.8 Validation of bacTRAP candidates via qPCR

Gene expression of *Cd93*, *Btk*, *Fzd9*, *Gstk1*, *Pax2*, *Trim59*, *Tex9*, *Capn1*, *Actn4* in relation to the housekeeping gene *Tbp*. Relative expression was measured in primary hippocampal neurons, hippocampal tissue *Lypd1*-mice and N2A cells.

Validating the expression of candidate protein in hippocampal neurons via IHC.

To identify whether expression of *Actn4*, *Capn1* and *Trim59* was not only altered on a mRNA level after chronic exercise, IHC was performed on frozen brain sections from *Lypd1-L10-eGFP* mice containing the hippocampal formation in order to detect changes in protein expression. Mice were sacrificed subsequent to eight weeks of an exercise versus sedentary intervention as described before together with mice for bacTRAP experiment performed by

Lukas Raich. Mice were perfused and brains were processed in order to use them for fluorescence-based IHC on cryosections. Slides were stained with primary antibodies against ACTN4, CAPN1 and TRIM59 followed by visualization via secondary antibodies. Images were taken from comparable regions in CA1 (Figure 4.9A). To quantify protein expression, the MFI of respectively ACTN4, CAPN1 and TRIM59 staining in all neurons was determined and compared between exercise and sedentary mice. Furthermore, the MFI of the same proteins was measured in exclusively GFP⁺ neurons in order to analyze cells which were isolated and analyzed in the bacTRAP. Similar to changes in the bacTRAP (results not shown), the expression of TRIM59 derived from the fluorescence intensity presented to be downregulated in the HC from exercise mice whereas the expression of CAPN1 was upregulated after an exercise intervention even though differences could not reach significance. Interestingly, the expression of ACTN4 did not show any differences between groups (Figure 4.9E-G).



Figure 4.9 Protein expression of candidate genes in hippocampal neurons

A, Immunohistochemical staining of neurons (NeuN) in the HC. To analyze changes in protein expression, the MFI of ACTN4, CAPN1 and TRIM59 was quantified in neurons in the labelled region of CA1 in exercise versus sedentary mice. Scale bar, 500 μ m. **B-D**, Representative immunohistochemical stainings of neurons (NeuN) and ACTN4 (B), CAPN1 (C) and TRIM59 (D) in the CA1 region in exercise and sedentary mice. Scale bar, 100 μ m. **E-G**, Quantification of the MFI of ACNT4 (E), CAPN1 (F) and TRIM59 (G) in CA1 neuronal cells and only GFP⁺ cells in exercise versus sedentary mice (two-tailed Student's t-test; n = 5 exercise versus n = 4 sedentary mice; MFI ACNT4 all cells, t(9) = 0.1921, P = 0.8532; MFI ACNT4 only GFP⁺ cells, t(9) = 0.5228, P = 0.6173; n = 4 exercise versus n = 4 sedentary mice; MFI CAPN1 all cells, t(8) = 0.6675, P = 0.5293; MFI CAPN1 only GFP⁺ cells, t(8) = 0.8998, P = 0.4029; n = 4 exercise versus n = 4 sedentary mice; MFI TRIM59 all cells, t(8) = 1.166, P = 0.2880; MFI TRIM59 only GFP⁺ cells, t(8) = 1.909 P = 0.1049. Results are presented as mean value +/- s.e.m. *P < 0.05. **P < 0.01.

5.1 Hippocampal changes in EAE

5.1.1 EAE as a model for neurodegeneration

EAE is a widely used model to study MS pathology. As with any animal model, results cannot be directly transferred to humans. When investigating neurodegenerative changes in EAE, the pathophysiology must be considered. Monophasic EAE is triggered by the induction of a peripheral immune response that secondarily spreads to the CNS. Compared to the pathophysiology of MS, it corresponds most closely to the *outside-in* model. The immune response in EAE is directed against CNS structures, more specifically MOG, a component of myelin sheaths (Stromnes and Goverman, 2006). The destruction of myelin and thus demyelination is a central process in MS, which allows a certain comparability with EAE (Compston and Coles, 2008). Nevertheless, antigen presentation and thus subgroup of activated T cells differ. In EAE CD4⁺ lymphocytes dominate the inflammation due to antigen presentation on major histocompatibility complex (MHC) class II molecules, whereas in MS antigens are mainly presented on MHC class I molecules and therefore activate CD8⁺ lymphocytes.

Neurodegeneration is defined by neuronal and axonal damage and neurodegenerative processes play a decisive role in EAE (Friese et al., 2014). Even though there is evidence for early neurodegeneration even before motor symptoms occur (Mancini et al., 2017), the chronic phase of EAE, in this study defined as day 30 postimmunization, is particularly suitable for investigating neurodegenerative processes. This phase can be compared with SPMS, in which neurodegenerative processes also define the progressive disability (Constantinescu et al., 2011). The knowledge of many neurodegenerative mechanisms of MS (see Chapter 1.1.2) derives from EAE studies. It must be mentioned that in some studies different time points postimmunization were chosen for the analysis of neurodegenerative changes, which could limit the comparability of the results. For example, Giannakopoulou et al. (2017) analyzed hippocampal alterations in chronic EAE at day 30 postimmunization while Novkovic et al. (2015) chose day 40-45 postimmunization. In accordance to previous studies, the infiltration of immune cells was investigated at day 15 postimmunization as time of maximum symptom severity. Most studies, including this work, see symptom onset around the day 12 postimmunization with peak symptom severity around the day 15, which can be characterized as acute EAE (Constantinescu et al., 2011). Simplified, the pathophysiology at this point can be compared to an acute relapse of RRMS with acute neuroinflammation mediated by infiltrating and resident immune cells.

Due to these observations, EAE is considered as a suitable model for further studies investigating inflammatory induced neurodegenerative processes even though the aforementioned aspects must be considered.

5.1.2 Hippocampal damage

Inflammation

The first aim of this work was to define a hippocampal phenotype during EAE that can provide the basis for subsequent investigations. In acute EAE, the HC was shown to be affected by inflammation compared to healthy mice (Figure 4.2) although in comparison to the spinal cord immune cell infiltration is much lower. This confirms the involvement of the HC in acute CNS inflammation. Interestingly, the inflammation is characterized by both lymphocyte infiltration and increased microglial activation. Most lymphocytes, visualized by staining of the lymphocytic marker CD3, were localized around the meninges adjacent to the HC, consistent with the pervious observation that the CNS, which is normally immune privileged, is infiltrated by lymphocytes due to a disruption of the BBB (Minagar and Alexander, 2003). In addition and as described by Mori et al. (2014), the parenchyma also showed a lymphocytic infiltration, which was not seen in other studies (Ziehn et al., 2010). A possible explanation for the deviating results could be that Ziehn et al. (2010) only examined a section of the CA1. Kyran et al. (2018) performed a subregional analysis and described lymphocytic infiltration mainly in the meninges but also in specific hippocampal areas with omission of the CA1 region. Microglial activation was examined by quantification of IBA1 staining (Figure 4.2C). It is known that microglia fulfill diverse functions in the CNS and have both pro- and anti-inflammatory influences. A distinction between M1 microglia, which are more pro-inflammatory, and M2 microglia, with anti-inflammatory character, has not been made at this point (Guo et al., 2022b). However, it is known that chronic activation of microglia all in all maintains progressive neurodegeneration in MS and EAE (Di Filippo et al., 2016, Colasanti et al., 2016). In line with previous studies (Ziehn et al., 2010, Di Filippo et al., 2016, Di Filippo et al., 2013), microglia showed an activated morphology with a significantly larger expansion area (Figure 4.2D). This chronic inflammation could be one factor driving progressive hippocampal neurodegeneration.

Neurodegeneration

As already described above, particularly CA1 and CA3 are essential components of the trisynaptic signaling pathway and thus the basis of memory formation (see Chapter 1.2.1). For this reason, these two regions were examined more closely with regard to

neurodegenerative changes, more precisely alterations of neuronal cell count and synaptic density in chronic EAE. Subregional analysis revealed a significant loss of NeuN⁺ cells in the CA1 region at day 30 postimmunization. In CA3, no significant alterations were seen (Figure 4.3). Previous studies reported a significant volume loss (Ziehn et al., 2010) and a 40% loss of pyramidal cells in the CA1 region (Kurkowska-Jastrzębska et al., 2013). However, Kurkowska-Jastrzebska et al. (2013) used a different EAE model with injection of reactive lymphocytes, so comparability is limited. Neuronal cell loss may be associated with existing results showing increased apoptosis in the HC (Kim and Sung, 2017). Another aspect could be reduced neurogenesis, this connection is discussed later in this chapter. The successful demonstration of hippocampal cell loss in CA1 may explain the observations of cognitive impairment in EAE mice (Novkovic et al., 2015). Further studies could correlate the amount of CA1 neuronal loss with severity of the cognitive impairment to further strengthen the link between these two findings. LTP and LTD as functional markers of synaptic connections have already been investigated many times with differing results (Di Filippo et al., 2018). However, there is a lack of evidence to what extent the number of synapses and thus the connectivity between neurons is altered. Synaptic contacts, measured as the overlap of Synapsin and Homer as pre- and postsynaptic proteins, were significantly reduced, again in the CA1 region (Figure 4.5). Interestingly, the individual pre- and postsynapses were not significantly altered. It appears that EAE causes processes that prevent the formation of synaptic contacts. All and all and consistent with previous studies, it was also demonstrated here that the CA1 region in particular is affected by neurodegeneration (Rocca et al., 2018).

Neurogenesis

It is known to be difficult to study AHN, as markers are very susceptible to tissue processing and neuronal stem cells can develop into different cell types, making it difficult to predict the maturation process (Moreno-Jimenez et al., 2019). Studies investigating AHN in EAE show very different results, which is why an investigation of the process in the EAE model used here was indicated. In this work, the microtubule-associated protein DCX was chosen for studying AHN due to its specificity for newly generated neurons and expression during a range of differentiation stages (Couillard-Despres et al., 2005, Moreno-Jimenez et al., 2019). Interestingly, and partly in contrast to previous results, hippocampal neurogenesis was significantly reduced in chronic EAE, whereas no significant changes were observed in acute EAE **(Figure 4.4)**. The idea that increased AHN could exist as an attempt to compensate for the damaging processes, particularly in acute EAE, has existed for some time. Giannakopoulou et al. (2013) did indeed observe an increased number of BrdU⁺ cells in the hippocampal DG in acute EAE, but further revealed that the subgroup of DCX⁺ cells tended to be lower than in healthy mice, although this observation did not reach significance. The proliferating cells therefore do not appear to develop into neurons, which could indicate a malfunction of maturation in this direction. However, the underlying mechanisms causing this observation are still unknown, which makes it difficult to develop therapeutic strategies. One explanation for the insufficient increase in neurogenesis in acute EAE could be early neurodegenerative processes in the HC, which impair the sensitive process of AHN. Furthermore, inflammation has also been shown to have a detrimental effect on hippocampal neurogenesis (Monje et al., 2003). Contrary to the reduction in newborn neurons in chronic EAE described here, Giannakopoulou et al. (2017) saw an increase in DCX⁺ neurons at day 30 postimmunization. This could at least partly be explained by different EAE induction protocols, as Giannakopoulou et al. (2017) applied significantly fewer amounts of MOG and did not inject any Mycobacterium tuberculosis. It is possible that neuroprotective mechanisms can counteract neurodegeneration in this mild EAE. The results of other studies support the observation that neurogenesis is reduced in chronic EAE (Aharoni et al., 2005, Guo et al., 2010). In addition to suboptimal environmental conditions in EAE, a possible cause could also be a lack of neurotrophins such as BDNF. BDNF was shown to primarily be elevated in acute EAE, maybe counteracting neurodegenerative processes, with subsequent decline in brain tissue (Bernardes et al., 2013). Addressing neurogenesis therapeutically to potentially counteract neuron loss in the HC would be an interesting approach and provides a link to the therapeutic benefits of endurance exercise.

5.2 Exercise and EAE disease course

To date, there are no established therapeutic options to counteract neurodegeneration and the resulting symptoms of MS, such as cognitive impairment. Due to its neuroprotective properties, excise offers an interesting approach (see Chapter 1.3.1). Exercise subsumes both endurance and strength as well as acute and chronic physical activity with chronic endurance exercise in particular having shown potential neuroprotective effects such as accumulation of BDNF and neurogenesis in the past (Liu and Nusslock, 2018). High-intensity exercise, achieved by forced models in the animals, can have negative effects through the stimulation of oxidative stress, while moderate exercise interventions tend to have an antioxidant and therefore a neuroprotective effect (Radak et al., 2016). In this study, a voluntary exercise intervention prior to EAE induction was performed and disease course was compared to sedentary mice (Figure 4.6). Motor symptoms of the EAE mice were evaluated here, which are primarily due to damage to the spinal cord. However, future studies could investigate the influence of a prior exercise intervention on cognitive aspects of EAE to demonstrate the neuroprotective properties of exercise on the HC. As described above, acute EAE is primarily characterized by the acute infiltration of immune cells into the CNS. Chronic EAE, on the other hand, is a good model for the investigation of neurodegenerative processes (Voskuhl and MacKenzie-Graham, 2022). A significantly milder acute EAE, as seen here,

could therefore be due to both exercise-induced anti-inflammatory effects and increased resilience of CNS structures, which is difficult to distinguish at this point (Figure 4.6). The milder course of chronic EAE, which is also reflected in an almost complete recovery of body weight, supports the theory that exercise counteracts progressive neurodegeneration. That endurance exercise has a positive effect on EAE has already been described in previous studies (Einstein et al., 2018, Bernardes et al., 2016, Pryor et al., 2015, Rizzo et al., 2021, Rossi et al., 2009, Souza et al., 2017). However, these studies used widely different exercise models. Some forced animals to exercise via treadmill (Einstein et al., 2018, Souza et al., 2017) or swimming (Bernardes et al., 2016) interventions. Forced exercise could trigger stress in animals, an stress is a known inductor of neurodegeneration through, among other things, increased neuroinflammation and impaired energy metabolism due to mitochondrial dysfunction (Peña-Bautista et al., 2020). Cognitive impairment and hippocampal alterations has also been associated with stress (Sandi, 2004). Nevertheless, those forced exercise interventions consistently showed to ameliorate acute and chronic EAE. In the past, voluntary exercise models were usually started at the same time as the EAE induction (Pryor et al., 2015, Rizzo et al., 2021, Rossi et al., 2009). However, in order to maximize the neuroprotective mechanisms of exercise, it was considered to be best to start the exercise intervention before the EAE induction. This could allow the neuroprotective properties to be fully utilized before neurodegeneration due to EAE begins. Rizzo et al. (2021) described, as also shown in this study, an ameliorated EAE disease course without significant alteration of time of disease onset. Given this course, largely unchanged immune cell infiltration and activation could be assumed, with the neuroprotective mechanisms of exercise showing their effect during the course of the disease. An unaltered severity of acute EAE with attenuated chronic EAE consistent with this thesis could not be shown here. At this point, it is important to note that the underlying mechanisms by which exercise exerts positive effects on EAE symptoms are still unknown. It has been postulated before, that exercise exclusively alters the immune system without direct neuroprotective effects (Einstein et al., 2018). This statement resulted from a study in which mice, adjacent to a treadmill intervention or sedentary mice, were injected with autoreactive T cells from mice immunized with EAE. No change in the course of EAE was observed here. With regard to comparability, it must be said that a different EAE protocol with myelin proteolipid protein instead of MOG was used, which appears to show a milder disease and most important a relapsing-remitting course predominantly driven by recurring CNS inflammation (Einstein et al., 2018, Badawi and Siahaan, 2013). In contrast, voluntary exercise was shown to have no effect on immune cell infiltration to the spinal cord of EAE mice while synaptic and dendritic abnormalities were significantly attenuated supporting the hypothesis of a predominantly neuroprotective and less anti-inflammatory phenotype (Rossi et al., 2009).

Examination of the HC showed a restorative effect of exercise on synaptic plasticity impaired by EAE among significant reduction of microglial activation (Rizzo et al., 2021). Exercise was also shown to exhibit immunomodulatory alterations with downregulation of the immune response in the brain and also hippocampal tissue (Souza et al., 2017, Rizzo et al., 2021). Kim and Sung (2017) saw a restoration of AHN in EAE due to exercise together with enhanced BDNF levels. Induction of BDNF thus represents one of many possible exercise-induced neuroprotective mechanisms. Summarized, exercise appears to combine both antiinflammatory, which could generally attenuate the entire course of EAE, and direct neuroprotective mechanisms that individually or in combination lead to the observation presented here that exercise attenuates the course of EAE. Accordingly, it was decided to first evaluate purely neuroprotective mechanisms of exercise in HC without EAE induction.

5.3 Exercise-induced hippocampal changes

To rule out the complex influences of exercise on the immune system and therefore EAE disease course, exercise-induced hippocampal changes were examined without prior EAE induction. Initially, the same hippocampal structures were examined as in the characterization of the EAE. Although extreme exercise interventions can have harmful and pro-inflammatory properties (Cerqueira et al., 2019), moderate to intense exercise shows mainly anti-inflammatory properties such as a decrease in pro- and increase in anti-inflammatory cytokines (Liu et al., 2019, de Sousa et al., 2017). Previous studies reported a decrease in hippocampal microglial count after eight weeks of moderate exercise (Wang et al., 2021, Mee-Inta et al., 2019) even though a strong dependence of the effect on the age and sex of the rodents was reported (Kohman et al., 2013). However, no significant alteration of microglial activation could be seen in this study (**Figure 4.7B**). Further studies could differentiate pro-inflammatory M1 and anti-inflammatory M2 microglial cells to identify possible changes in the ratio of these subgroups.

Significantly more DCX⁺ neurons could be detected in exercise compared to sedentary mice (Figure 4.7C). Since exercise has already been shown to be an inducer of AHN (van Praag et al., 1999, Liu and Nusslock, 2018, Ma et al., 2017), this result indicates that the voluntary exercise model used here is suitable for the investigation of neuroprotective mechanisms. Interestingly, a forced exercise intervention, unlike voluntary exercise, did not show an increase in AHN, which indicates an increased neuroprotective influence of the voluntary intervention (van Praag et al., 1999). The induction of AHN could result from exercise-improved mitochondrial metabolism and altered expression of neurotransmitters and neurotrophins, with BDNF as one of the best-studied representatives (Burtscher et al., 2021, Liu and Nusslock, 2018). The FNDC5/BDNF pathway represents a link between increased

muscle activity and the induction of BDNF in the CNS (Wrann et al., 2013). A crucial and difficult to investigate question is whether the newly formed neurons are integrated into existing neuronal networks of the HC and thus offer the potential to counteract the reduced number of neurons due to neurodegeneration. Exercise has been shown to increase the survival rate of progenitor cells and promote differentiation into neuronal cells (van Praag et al., 1999). This could potentially counteract the observation that neurodegenerative processes in EAE inhibit differentiation into a neuronal phenotype (Giannakopoulou et al., 2013). To address this question, hippocampal neurons expressing NeuN were counted in representative regions of CA1, CA2 and CA3. There was a trend towards higher numbers of neurons in exercise mice compared to sedentary mice, although this observation did not reach significance (Figure **4.7D**). This could be due to a relatively small number of mice in this study, which is probably not sufficient to detect even small changes in the number of neurons. Therefore, the experiment should be repeated on a larger group of animals in the future. Other studies reported an increase in hippocampal cell count as a result of an exercise intervention especially in the DG, CA1 and CA3 region (Wang et al., 2021, Uysal et al., 2005). Interestingly, the increase in hippocampal cell count was not associated with changes in apoptosis frequency (Uysal et al., 2005), so increased neurogenesis may provide an explanation.

Synapses and their dynamic formation form the basis of the plasticity of the HC alongside neurogenesis (Neves et al., 2008). Synapses can be subdivided in different ways. Functionally, LTP and LTD can be investigated. Morphologically, studies have quantified the density of dendritic spines and pre- and postsynaptic markers. Exercise was shown to induce LTP (Loprinzi, 2019) and increase the density of synaptic spines (Eadie et al., 2005). In this study, synaptic contacts were quantified as already described above, as this method allows a prediction about the actual connectivity of neurons. In fact, no significant change in the number of synapses could be detected (**Figure 4.7G**).

In summary, except for increased neurogenesis, no significant histological changes of the HC in exercise compared to sedentary mice could be demonstrated. This may indicate that changes in these analyses were below the detection threshold. Future studies of a bigger cohort and quantification of larger hippocampal areas would be useful to detect marginal effects.

5.3.1 Hippocampal gene expression

Exercise exhibits several neuroprotective properties potentially counteracting neurodegenerative processes (see Chapter 1.3.1). Clinical and morphological exercise-induced alterations are described in the literature and could partly be shown in this work. However, underlying mechanisms are largely unknown. One possible cause of the exercise-

induced changes is an alteration in protein expression with the potential to make neurons more resilient to neurodegeneration. A relatively new method, the so-called bacTRAP, enables the isolation of the currently transcribed mRNA from specific cell populations (Heiman et al., 2014). The major advantage of this method is that it avoids possible contamination by proteins from other cell types, such as immune cells. The bacTRAP method has already been used to analyze the changes in mRNA expression in exclusively motor neurons in acute EAE (Schattling et al., 2019). This method was subsequently established to extract mRNA from hippocampal neurons using the *Lypd1* promoter (Figure 5.1). These analyses revealed several candidate-genes with altered expression following an exercise intervention (results not shown). The expression of promising candidates with potential neuroprotective properties was then validated by qPCR from hippocampal neurons, N2A cells and hippocampal tissue. Three genes (*Actn4, Capn1, Trim59*) showed particularly high expression and therefore protein expression was further analyzed in exercise and sedentary mice using IHC (Figure 4.9).



Figure 5.1 Hippocampal BacTRAP

Experimental design to identify alterations in hippocampal gene expression in exercise mice compared to sedentary via bacTRAP. *Lypd1-L10-eGFP* mice were randomly assigned to either the exercise or sedentary cohort. After eight weeks, all mice were sacrificed and the HC dissected in order to extract the mRNA from the hippocampal neurons using the bacTRAP method (illustrated by the magnet). The samples obtained were then subjected to further analysis (Created with BioRender.com).

ACTN4

The hippocampal bacTRAP revealed an upregulation of *Actn4* in the HC of exercise mice (results not shown). Actin-binding proteins are cytoskeletal proteins of the spectrin family (Broderick and Winder, 2005). In non-muscle cells actin-binding proteins connect actin to the cell membrane, in muscle cells it anchors myofibrillar actin filaments. ACTN4 does not appear to be expressed in muscle cells (Otey and Carpen, 2004). Interestingly, ACTN4 is largely expressed in the brain and more specifically in the HC (Kalinowska et al., 2015). The protein

has been widely studied in the context of tumorigenesis (Tentler et al., 2019). In brain tumors, for example, the protein was found to be upregulated (Fukushima et al., 2014). High levels of ACTN4 in tumors have been linked to their invasiveness, which is primarily associated with increased tumor cell motility (Tentler et al., 2019). Another interesting feature is the involvement in spine remodeling. If ACTN4 is missing, spine elongation and turnover are restricted. Overexpression, on the other hand, showed an elongation of the spine heads (Kalinowska et al., 2015). ACTN4 could therefore contribute to increased synaptic plasticity. Exercise has been shown to increase the amount of extracellular vesicles containing ACTN4, even when not performed in brain tissue (Eichner et al., 2018). ACTN4 is an interesting protein, that may contribute to exercise-induced enhancement of synaptic plasticity and neuroprotection. Using IHC, the upregulation by exercise seen in the bacTRAP could not be confirmed so far (Figure 4.9E). Since ACTN4 is enriched in excitatory synapses and colocalizes with PSD95, a synaptic protein, quantification of expression in synapses after exercise would be an interesting next step (Kalinowska et al., 2015).

CAPN1

The Capn1 gene was also found to be upregulated in exercise mice in the hippocampal bacTRAP and expressed in hippocampal neurons (Figure 4.8). CAPN1 is a calcium-regulated protease ubiquitously expressed in the body including the brain (Su et al., 2020). Calpain activity was detected in the HC of mice, although it was lower than in other brain regions such as the cerebellum (Baudry et al., 1986). CAPN1 appears to have neuroprotective properties, as a lack of the protein leads to increased susceptibility of the brain to traumatic brain injury (Wang et al., 2018). The protease contributes to synaptic plasticity and reconstruction and the maturation and maintenance of neurons by CAPN1 has also been described (Gan-Or et al., 2016). Various studies have investigated the impact of CAPN1 knockout. Interestingly, an impairment of hippocampal LTP and HC-dependent learning and memory was observed (Liu et al., 2016). CAPN1 appears to regulate several genes that influence various brain functions, so that an involvement in the genesis of brain disorders such as AD has already been concluded (Su et al., 2020). Remarkably, a recently published study showed that exercise not only improved cognition in a rat model of Parkinson's disease, but also increased the expression of CAPN1 in the brain of the rats (Guo et al., 2022a). However, there are opposing opinions that consider CAPN1 as a promoter of neurodegeneration and propose the inhibition of CAPN1 as a neuroprotective strategy, although an activity-related change in behavior is also being discussed (Gan-Or and Rouleau, 2016). In this study, an increased protein expression in the HC of exercise mice could be detected, but this effect did not reach significance (Figure 4.9F). A further study with a larger cohort of mice would be useful. In addition, an investigation of the HC in CAPN1 knockout mice would be interesting to further analyze the neuroprotective properties.

TRIM59

Trim59 appeared to be downregulated in the HC of exercise mice (results not shown). It has been described that the protein is localized in the endoplasmic reticulum of cells and plays a role in multiple processes, including cell proliferation, apoptosis and cell differentiation (Chen et al., 2019). *Trim59* is classified as an oncogene because it accelerates proliferation in various tumors, including neuroblastoma, prostate carcinoma and cervical carcinoma, by interfering with the cell cycle (Chen et al., 2019, Aierken et al., 2017, Lin et al., 2016). Hypermethylation of *Trim59* was previously associated with AD with alterations of the cell cycle and proapoptotic signaling indicating neurodegenerative properties (Wezyk et al., 2018). Very little is known about the function of TRIM59 in the CNS and even more specifically in the HC. A downregulation in the HC, albeit not significant, could be shown at protein level (Figure 4.9G). Repeating the experiment with a larger cohort of mice could provide more evidence. Further studies are needed to understand the function of TRIM59 in the CNS and potential neurodegenerative properties of the protein.

5.4 Outlook and transferability to MS patients

Histological changes of the HC in exercise compared to sedentary mice showed an increased neurogenesis and a trend for higher neuronal numbers (Figure 4.7). Further experiments could be conducted with a higher number of mice per group in order to better identify even slight changes. Furthermore, it would be useful to investigate the integration of newborn neurons into the HC. The exact changes in the local hippocampal immune response to exercise should be investigated. This would allow better differentiation of potentially protective mechanisms of exercise intervention in terms of immunomodulation or direct neuroprotection. Subsequently, comparison of the HC of EAE mice with and without exercise intervention could be performed. The interesting candidate proteins CAPN1, ACTN4 and TRIM59 need to be further validated and their molecular function investigated. The development of knockout or overexpressing mice would be a suitable method to investigate the neuroprotective or neurodegenerative properties in more detail.

Hippocampal alterations, as also seen here in chronic EAE, functional impairments and atrophy of the HC have been demonstrated in MS and could explain the cognitive impairment of MS patients (Damjanovic et al., 2017, Papadopoulos et al., 2009, Planche et al., 2017). Exercise had a positive effect on symptoms and disease progression at various disease stages in terms of primary, secondary and tertiary prevention (Dalgas et al., 2019). Exercise-induced neurogenesis was detected in this study and represents an interesting neuroprotective mechanism (Figure 4.7C). AHN in adult humans is a controversial topic, although there is evidence to support it (Boldrini et al., 2018, Eriksson et al., 1998, Manganas et al., 2007,

Moreno-Jimenez et al., 2019). Induction of neurogenesis in patients with MS could preserve or improve hippocampal functions by increasing plasticity and neuronal cell count. To date, there are no drugs treating neurodegeneration as the cause of symptoms such as cognitive impairment. Proteins like ACTN4, CAPN1 and TRIM59, whose expression is altered by exercise, could underlie neuroprotection. In the future, these proteins could be used to establish drug approaches that also address symptoms such as cognitive impairment in patients with MS who are not able to undergo exercise intervention.

6 Summary

A cardinal symptom in patients with multiple sclerosis (MS) is cognitive impairment, which correlates best with early and progressive neurodegeneration of the central nervous system (CNS). This has a major impact on guality of life and is one of the main reasons for early retirement of MS patients, resulting in a large socioeconomic burden. Cognitive impairment may be due to hippocampal injury during disease progression, although the extent and underlying biological mechanisms are unclear. Thus, uncovering these mechanisms is an important step in treatment development. To date, all therapeutic approaches only address the inflammatory component of MS, but neurodegeneration is not affected. Notably, exercise can delay the first symptoms of MS and ameliorate disease progression, suggesting neuroprotective properties. To test this, first of all the extent of hippocampal damage was examined in experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis (EAE), a mouse model for MS. Significant neuronal cell loss and reduction of synaptic density was detected in the CA1 region of the hippocampus (HC). Furthermore, hippocampal neurogenesis was significantly impaired. It was further shown, that a voluntary exercise intervention prior to EAE induction significantly attenuated disease progression, particularly in the chronic phase, which correlates best with progressive neurodegeneration. However, the acute EAE was also attenuated, suggesting anti-inflammatory impacts of exercise. To identify the purely neuroprotective influences, the HC was examined in exercise and sedentary mice. Neurogenesis was found to be significantly stimulated. An increase in the number of neurons or synapse density did not reach significance. A relatively new method, the so-called bacTRAP, has already enabled the detection of promising changes in gene expression in hippocampal neurons. In this work, these results were further validated and analyzed for expression at the protein level in the HC. Further experiments are needed in the future to identify the potential neuroprotective effects of these genes that may underlie the positive effects of exercise. Furthermore, they may provide a basis for drug approaches addressing symptoms caused by neurodegeneration such as cognitive impairment.

7 Zusammenfassung

Ein Kardinalsymptom bei Patienten mit Multipler Sklerose (MS) ist kognitive Beeinträchtigung, die am besten mit einer frühen und fortschreitenden Neurodegeneration des zentralen Nervensystems (ZNS) korreliert. Dies hat erhebliche Auswirkungen auf die Lebensqualität und ist einer der Hauptgründe für eine frühzeitige Rente von MS-Patienten, was eine große sozioökonomische Belastung darstellt. Kognitive Beeinträchtigungen können auf eine Schädigung des Hippokampus (HK) während des Krankheitsverlaufs zurückzuführen sein, obwohl das Ausmaß und die zugrunde liegenden biologischen Mechanismen unklar sind. Daher ist die Aufdeckung dieser Mechanismen ein wichtiger Schritt bei der Entwicklung von Therapien. Bislang zielen alle therapeutischen Ansätze ausschließlich auf die entzündliche Komponente der MS ab, die Neurodegeneration wird jedoch nicht beeinflusst. Bemerkenswert ist, dass körperliche Betätigung die ersten Symptome der MS hianuszögern und das Fortschreiten der Krankheit abmildern kann, was auf neuroprotektive Eigenschaften schließen lässt. Um dies zu prüfen, wurde in dieser Arbeit zunächst das Ausmaß der Schädigung des HK bei der experimentellen autoimmunen Enzephalomyelitis (EAE), einem Mausmodell der MS, untersucht. In der CA1-Region des HK konnte ein signifikanter neuronaler Zellverlust und eine Verringerung der synaptischen Dichte festgestellt werden. Darüber hinaus war die Neurogenese im Hippokampus deutlich beeinträchtigt. Es konnte ferner gezeigt werden, dass eine freiwillige sportliche Betätigung vor der Induktion der EAE das Fortschreiten der Krankheit deutlich abschwächte, insbesondere in der chronischen Phase, die am besten mit der fortschreitenden Neurodegeneration korreliert. Aber auch die akute EAE zeigte sich abgeschwächt, was auf eine entzündungshemmende Wirkung der Sport-Intervention hindeutet. Um die rein neuroprotektiven Einflüsse zu ermitteln, wurde der HK bei sportlich aktiven im Vergleich zu ruhenden Mäusen untersucht. Es wurde festgestellt, dass die Neurogenese durch die körperliche Aktivität signifikant stimuliert war. Eine Untersuchung der Zunahme der Zahl der Neuronen oder der Synapsendichte erreichte keine Signifikanz. Mit einer relativ neuen Methode, der sogenannten bacTRAP, konnten bereits vielversprechende Veränderungen der Genexpression in hippokampalen Neuronen nachgewiesen werden. In dieser Arbeit wurden diese Ergebnisse weiter validiert und auf die Expression auf Proteinebene im HK untersucht. In Zukunft sind weitere Experimente erforderlich, um die potenziell neuroprotektiven Eigenschaften dieser Gene zu ermitteln, die möglicherweise den positiven Auswirkungen des Sports zugrunde liegen. Darüber hinaus könnten die Gene eine Grundlage für medikamentöse Ansätze zur Behandlung von durch Neurodegeneration verursachten Symptomen wie kognitiven Beeinträchtigungen bilden.

8 References

- AHARONI, R., ARNON, R. & EILAM, R. 2005. Neurogenesis and neuroprotection induced by peripheral immunomodulatory treatment of experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis. *J Neurosci*, 25, 8217-28.
- AIERKEN, G., SEYITI, A., ALIFU, M. & KUERBAN, G. 2017. Knockdown of Tripartite-59 (TRIM59) Inhibits Cellular Proliferation and Migration in Human Cervical Cancer Cells. *Oncol Res*, 25, 381-388.
- ALTMAN, J. & DAS, G. D. 1965. Autoradiographic and histological evidence of postnatal hippocampal neurogenesis in rats. *J Comp Neurol*, 124, 319-35.
- BADAWI, A. H. & SIAHAAN, T. J. 2013. Suppression of MOG- and PLP-induced experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis using a novel multivalent bifunctional peptide inhibitor. *J Neuroimmunol*, 263, 20-7.
- BAR-OR, A., PENDER, M. P., KHANNA, R., STEINMAN, L., HARTUNG, H. P., MANIAR, T., CROZE, E., AFTAB, B. T., GIOVANNONI, G. & JOSHI, M. A. 2020. Epstein-Barr Virus in Multiple Sclerosis: Theory and Emerging Immunotherapies. *Trends Mol Med*, 26, 296-310.
- BAUDRY, M., SIMONSON, L., DUBRIN, R. & LYNCH, G. 1986. A comparative study of soluble calcium-dependent proteolytic activity in brain. *Journal of Neurobiology*, 17, 15-28.
- BELBASIS, L., BELLOU, V., EVANGELOU, E., IOANNIDIS, J. P. A. & TZOULAKI, I. 2015. Environmental risk factors and multiple sclerosis: an umbrella review of systematic reviews and meta-analyses. *The Lancet Neurology*, 14, 263-273.
- BENEDICT, R. H. B., CARONE, D. A. & BAKSHI, R. 2004. Correlating Brain Atrophy With Cognitive Dysfunction, Mood Disturbances, and Personality Disorder in Multiple Sclerosis. *Journal of Neuroimaging*, 14, 36S-45S.
- BENEDICT, R. H. B., COOKFAIR, D., GAVETT, R., GUNTHER, M., MUNSCHAUER, F., GARG, N. & WEINSTOCK-GUTTMAN, B. 2006. Validity of the minimal assessment of cognitive function in multiple sclerosis (MACFIMS). *Journal of the International Neuropsychological Society*, 12, 549-558.
- BERMEL, R. A., BAKSHI, R., TJOA, C., PULI, S. R. & JACOBS, L. 2002. Bicaudate ratio as a magnetic resonance imaging marker of brain atrophy in multiple sclerosis. *Arch Neurol*, 59, 275-80.
- BERNARDES, D., BRAMBILLA, R., BRACCHI-RICARD, V., KARMALLY, S., DELLAROLE, A., CARVALHO-TAVARES, J. & BETHEA, J. R. 2016. Prior regular exercise improves clinical outcome and reduces demyelination and axonal injury in experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis. *J Neurochem*, 136 Suppl 1, 63-73.
- BERNARDES, D., OLIVEIRA-LIMA, O. C., DA SILVA, T. V., FARACO, C. C. F., LEITE, H. R., JULIANO, M. A., DOS SANTOS, D. M., BETHEA, J. R., BRAMBILLA, R., ORIAN, J. M., ARANTES, R. M. E. & CARVALHO-TAVARES, J. 2013. Differential brain and spinal cord cytokine and BDNF levels in experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis

are modulated by prior and regular exercise. *Journal of Neuroimmunology*, 264, 24-34.

- BIANCHI, V. E., LOCATELLI, V. & RIZZI, L. 2017. Neurotrophic and Neuroregenerative Effects of GH/IGF1. International Journal of Molecular Sciences, 18, 2441.
- BITTNER, S., AFZALI, A. M., WIENDL, H. & MEUTH, S. G. 2014. Myelin oligodendrocyte glycoprotein (MOG35-55) induced experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis (EAE) in C57BL/6 mice. J Vis Exp, e51275.
- BJORNEVIK, K., CORTESE, M., HEALY, B. C., KUHLE, J., MINA, M. J., LENG, Y., ELLEDGE, S. J., NIEBUHR, D. W., SCHER, A. I., MUNGER, K. L. & ASCHERIO, A. 2022. Longitudinal analysis reveals high prevalence of Epstein-Barr virus associated with multiple sclerosis. *Science*, 375, 296-301.
- BOLDRINI, M., FULMORE, C. A., TARTT, A. N., SIMEON, L. R., PAVLOVA, I., POPOSKA, V., ROSOKLIJA, G. B., STANKOV, A., ARANGO, V., DWORK, A. J., HEN, R. & MANN, J. J. 2018. Human Hippocampal Neurogenesis Persists throughout Aging. *Cell Stem Cell*, 22, 589-599 e5.
- BRIKEN, S., ROSENKRANZ, S. C., KEMINER, O., PATRA, S., KETELS, G., HEESEN, C., HELLWEG, R., PLESS, O., SCHULZ, K. H. & GOLD, S. M. 2016. Effects of exercise on Irisin, BDNF and IL-6 serum levels in patients with progressive multiple sclerosis. *J Neuroimmunol*, 299, 53-58.
- BROCA, P. 1878. Anatomie comparée des circonvolutions cérébrales : le grand lobe limbique et la scissure limbique dans la série des mammifères. *Revue Anthropologique*, 1, 385-498.
- BRODERICK, M. J. F. & WINDER, S. J. 2005. Spectrin, α-Actinin, and Dystrophin. Advances in Protein Chemistry, 70, 203-246.
- BROWN, J. P., COUILLARD-DESPRÉS, S., COOPER-KUHN, C. M., WINKLER, J., AIGNER, L. & KUHN, H. G. 2003. Transient expression of doublecortin during adult neurogenesis. *J Comp Neurol*, 467, 1-10.
- BURTSCHER, J., MILLET, G. P., PLACE, N., KAYSER, B. & ZANOU, N. 2021. The Muscle-Brain Axis and Neurodegenerative Diseases: The Key Role of Mitochondria in Exercise-Induced Neuroprotection. *Int J Mol Sci*, 22, 6479.
- CALABRESE, M., ATZORI, M., BERNARDI, V., MORRA, A., ROMUALDI, C., RINALDI, L., MCAULIFFE, M. J., BARACHINO, L., PERINI, P., FISCHL, B., BATTISTIN, L. & GALLO, P. 2007. Cortical atrophy is relevant in multiple sclerosis at clinical onset. *J Neurol*, 254, 1212-20.
- CASTELLANO, V. & WHITE, L. J. 2008. Serum brain-derived neurotrophic factor response to aerobic exercise in multiple sclerosis. *J Neurol Sci*, 269, 85-91.
- CATANI, M., DELL'ACQUA, F. & THIEBAUT DE SCHOTTEN, M. 2013. A revised limbic system model for memory, emotion and behaviour. *Neuroscience & Biobehavioral Reviews*, 37, 1724-1737.

- CERQUEIRA, É., MARINHO, D. A., NEIVA, H. P. & LOURENÇO, O. 2019. Inflammatory Effects of High and Moderate Intensity Exercise-A Systematic Review. *Front Physiol*, 10, 1550.
- CHARD, D. T., GRIFFIN, C. M., MCLEAN, M. A., KAPELLER, P., KAPOOR, R., THOMPSON, A. J. & MILLER, D. H. 2002a. Brain metabolite changes in cortical grey and normalappearing white matter in clinically early relapsing-remitting multiple sclerosis. *Brain*, 125, 2342-52.
- CHARD, D. T., GRIFFIN, C. M., PARKER, G. J. M., KAPOOR, R., THOMPSON, A. J. & MILLER, D. H. 2002b. Brain atrophy in clinically early relapsing–remitting multiple sclerosis. *Brain*, 125, 327-337.
- CHEN, G., CHEN, W., YE, M., TAN, W. & JIA, B. 2019. TRIM59 knockdown inhibits cell proliferation by down-regulating the Wnt/β-catenin signaling pathway in neuroblastoma. *Bioscience Reports*, 39.
- CHIARAVALLOTI, N. D. & DELUCA, J. 2008. Cognitive impairment in multiple sclerosis. *The Lancet Neurology*, 7, 1139-1151.
- COLASANTI, A., GUO, Q., GIANNETTI, P., WALL, M. B., NEWBOULD, R. D., BISHOP, C., ONEGA, M., NICHOLAS, R., CICCARELLI, O., MURARO, P. A., MALIK, O., OWEN, D. R., YOUNG, A. H., GUNN, R. N., PICCINI, P., MATTHEWS, P. M. & RABINER, E. A. 2016. Hippocampal Neuroinflammation, Functional Connectivity, and Depressive Symptoms in Multiple Sclerosis. *Biological Psychiatry*, 80, 62-72.
- COMPSTON, A. & COLES, A. 2008. Multiple sclerosis. Lancet, 372, 1502-17.
- CONFAVREUX, C., VUKUSIC, S., MOREAU, T. & ADELEINE, P. 2000. Relapses and progression of disability in multiple sclerosis. *N Engl J Med*, 343, 1430-8.
- CONSTANTINESCU, C. S., FAROOQI, N., O'BRIEN, K. & GRAN, B. 2011. Experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis (EAE) as a model for multiple sclerosis (MS). *British Journal of Pharmacology*, 164, 1079-1106.
- CORKIN, S. 2002. What's new with the amnesic patient H.M.? Nat Rev Neurosci, 3, 153-60.
- CORTESE, M., RIISE, T., BJØRNEVIK, K., BHAN, A., FARBU, E., GRYTTEN, N., HOGENESCH, I., MIDGARD, R., SMITH SIMONSEN, C., TELSTAD, W., ASCHERIO, A. & MYHR, K.-M. 2016. Preclinical disease activity in multiple sclerosis: A prospective study of cognitive performance prior to first symptom. *Annals of Neurology*, 80, 616-624.
- CORTESE, M., RIISE, T., BJØRNEVIK, K. & MYHR, K. M. 2018. Body size and physical exercise, and the risk of multiple sclerosis. *Mult Scler*, 24, 270-278.
- COUILLARD-DESPRES, S., WINNER, B., SCHAUBECK, S., AIGNER, R., VROEMEN, M., WEIDNER, N., BOGDAHN, U., WINKLER, J., KUHN, H.-G. & AIGNER, L. 2005. Doublecortin expression levels in adult brain reflect neurogenesis. *European Journal* of Neuroscience, 21, 1-14.
- DAL-BIANCO, A., GRABNER, G., KRONNERWETTER, C., WEBER, M., HÖFTBERGER, R., BERGER, T., AUFF, E., LEUTMEZER, F., TRATTNIG, S., LASSMANN, H., BAGNATO, F. & HAMETNER, S. 2017. Slow expansion of multiple sclerosis iron rim
lesions: pathology and 7 T magnetic resonance imaging. *Acta Neuropathologica*, 133, 25-42.

- DAL-BIANCO, A., SCHRANZER, R., GRABNER, G., LANZINGER, M., KOLBRINK, S., PUSSWALD, G., ALTMANN, P., PONLEITNER, M., WEBER, M., KORNEK, B., ZEBENHOLZER, K., SCHMIED, C., BERGER, T., LASSMANN, H., TRATTNIG, S., HAMETNER, S., LEUTMEZER, F. & ROMMER, P. 2021. Iron Rims in Patients With Multiple Sclerosis as Neurodegenerative Marker? A 7-Tesla Magnetic Resonance Study. *Frontiers in Neurology*, 12.
- DALGAS, U., INGEMANN-HANSEN, T. & STENAGER, E. 2009. Physical Exercise and MS Recommendations. *Int MS J*, 16, 5-11.
- DALGAS, U., LANGESKOV-CHRISTENSEN, M., STENAGER, E., RIEMENSCHNEIDER, M. & HVID, L. G. 2019. Exercise as Medicine in Multiple Sclerosis—Time for a Paradigm Shift: Preventive, Symptomatic, and Disease-Modifying Aspects and Perspectives. *Current Neurology and Neuroscience Reports,* 19, 88.
- DALGAS, U., STENAGER, E. & HVID, L. G. 2022. Physical exercise in multiple sclerosis is not just a symptomatic therapy, it has a disease-modifying effect: Commentary. *Mult Scler*, 28, 863-864.
- DAMJANOVIC, D., VALSASINA, P., ROCCA, M. A., STROMILLO, M. L., GALLO, A., ENZINGER, C., HULST, H. E., ROVIRA, A., MUHLERT, N., STEFANO, N. D., BISECCO, A., FAZEKAS, F., ARÉVALO, M. J., YOUSRY, T. A. & FILIPPI, M. 2017. Hippocampal and Deep Gray Matter Nuclei Atrophy Is Relevant for Explaining Cognitive Impairment in MS: A Multicenter Study. American Journal of Neuroradiology, 38, 18-24.
- DAUWAN, M., BEGEMANN, M. J. H., SLOT, M. I. E., LEE, E. H. M., SCHELTENS, P. & SOMMER, I. E. C. 2019. Physical exercise improves quality of life, depressive symptoms, and cognition across chronic brain disorders: a transdiagnostic systematic review and meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials. *J Neurol*, 268, 1222-1246.
- DE SOUSA, C. V., SALES, M. M., ROSA, T. S., LEWIS, J. E., DE ANDRADE, R. V. & SIMÕES, H. G. 2017. The Antioxidant Effect of Exercise: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis. Sports Med, 47, 277-293.
- DENDROU, C. A., FUGGER, L. & FRIESE, M. A. 2015. Immunopathology of multiple sclerosis. *Nature Reviews Immunology*, 15, 545-558.
- DI FILIPPO, M., CHIASSERINI, D., GARDONI, F., VIVIANI, B., TOZZI, A., GIAMPÀ, C., COSTA, C., TANTUCCI, M., ZIANNI, E., BORASO, M., SILIQUINI, S., DE IURE, A., GHIGLIERI, V., COLCELLI, E., BAKER, D., SARCHIELLI, P., FUSCO, F. R., DI LUCA, M. & CALABRESI, P. 2013. Effects of central and peripheral inflammation on hippocampal synaptic plasticity. *Neurobiology of Disease*, 52, 229-236.
- DI FILIPPO, M., DE IURE, A., GIAMPÀ, C., CHIASSERINI, D., TOZZI, A., ORVIETANI, P. L., GHIGLIERI, V., TANTUCCI, M., DURANTE, V., QUIROGA-VARELA, A., MANCINI, A., COSTA, C., SARCHIELLI, P., FUSCO, F. R. & CALABRESI, P. 2016. Persistent activation of microglia and NADPH oxidase drive hippocampal dysfunction in experimental multiple sclerosis. *Scientific Reports*, 6, 20926.

- DI FILIPPO, M., PORTACCIO, E., MANCINI, A. & CALABRESI, P. 2018. Multiple sclerosis and cognition: synaptic failure and network dysfunction. *Nat Rev Neurosci*, 19, 599-609.
- DIMEO, F., BAUER, M., VARAHRAM, I., PROEST, G. & HALTER, U. 2001. Benefits from aerobic exercise in patients with major depression: a pilot study. *British Journal of Sports Medicine*, 35, 114-117.
- DING, Q., VAYNMAN, S., AKHAVAN, M., YING, Z. & GOMEZ-PINILLA, F. 2006. Insulin-like growth factor I interfaces with brain-derived neurotrophic factor-mediated synaptic plasticity to modulate aspects of exercise-induced cognitive function. *Neuroscience*, 140, 823-833.
- DUTRA, R. C., MOREIRA, E. L., ALBERTI, T. B., MARCON, R., PREDIGER, R. D. & CALIXTO, J. B. 2013. Spatial reference memory deficits precede motor dysfunction in an experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis model: the role of kallikrein-kinin system. *Brain Behav Immun*, 33, 90-101.
- DUTTA, R., CHANG, A., DOUD, M. K., KIDD, G. J., RIBAUDO, M. V., YOUNG, E. A., FOX, R. J., STAUGAITIS, S. M. & TRAPP, B. D. 2011. Demyelination causes synaptic alterations in hippocampi from multiple sclerosis patients. *Ann Neurol*, 69, 445-54.
- DUTTA, R., MCDONOUGH, J., YIN, X., PETERSON, J., CHANG, A., TORRES, T., GUDZ, T., MACKLIN, W. B., LEWIS, D. A., FOX, R. J., RUDICK, R., MIRNICS, K. & TRAPP, B. D. 2006. Mitochondrial dysfunction as a cause of axonal degeneration in multiple sclerosis patients. *Ann Neurol*, 59, 478-89.
- EADIE, B. D., REDILA, V. A. & CHRISTIE, B. R. 2005. Voluntary exercise alters the cytoarchitecture of the adult dentate gyrus by increasing cellular proliferation, dendritic complexity, and spine density. *J Comp Neurol,* 486, 39-47.
- EICHNER, N. Z. M., ERDBRÜGGER, U. & MALIN, S. K. 2018. Extracellular Vesicles: A Novel Target for Exercise-Mediated Reductions in Type 2 Diabetes and Cardiovascular Disease Risk. *Journal of Diabetes Research*, 2018, 1-14.
- EINSTEIN, O., FAINSTEIN, N., TOULOUMI, O., LAGOUDAKI, R., HANYA, E., GRIGORIADIS, N., KATZ, A. & BEN-HUR, T. 2018. Exercise training attenuates experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis by peripheral immunomodulation rather than direct neuroprotection. *Experimental Neurology*, 299, 56-64.
- EKSTROM, A. D., KAHANA, M. J., CAPLAN, J. B., FIELDS, T. A., ISHAM, E. A., NEWMAN, E. L. & FRIED, I. 2003. Cellular networks underlying human spatial navigation. *Nature*, 425, 184-188.
- ERICKSON, K. I., VOSS, M. W., PRAKASH, R. S., BASAK, C., SZABO, A., CHADDOCK, L., KIM, J. S., HEO, S., ALVES, H., WHITE, S. M., WOJCICKI, T. R., MAILEY, E., VIEIRA, V. J., MARTIN, S. A., PENCE, B. D., WOODS, J. A., MCAULEY, E. & KRAMER, A. F. 2011. Exercise training increases size of hippocampus and improves memory. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 108, 3017-22.
- ERIKSSON, P. S., PERFILIEVA, E., BJÖRK-ERIKSSON, T., ALBORN, A.-M., NORDBORG, C., PETERSON, D. A. & GAGE, F. H. 1998. Neurogenesis in the adult human hippocampus. *Nature Medicine*, 4, 1313-1317.

- ESHAGHI, A., MARINESCU, R. V., YOUNG, A. L., FIRTH, N. C., PRADOS, F., JORGE CARDOSO, M., TUR, C., DE ANGELIS, F., CAWLEY, N., BROWNLEE, W. J., DE STEFANO, N., LAURA STROMILLO, M., BATTAGLINI, M., RUGGIERI, S., GASPERINI, C., FILIPPI, M., ROCCA, M. A., ROVIRA, A., SASTRE-GARRIGA, J., GEURTS, J. J. G., VRENKEN, H., WOTTSCHEL, V., LEURS, C. E., UITDEHAAG, B., PIRPAMER, L., ENZINGER, C., OURSELIN, S., GANDINI WHEELER-KINGSHOTT, C. A., CHARD, D., THOMPSON, A. J., BARKHOF, F., ALEXANDER, D. C. & CICCARELLI, O. 2018. Progression of regional grey matter atrophy in multiple sclerosis. *Brain*, 141, 1665-1677.
- FAGNANI, C., NEALE, M. C., NISTICÒ, L., STAZI, M. A., RICIGLIANO, V. A., BUSCARINU, M. C., SALVETTI, M. & RISTORI, G. 2015. Twin studies in multiple sclerosis: A metaestimation of heritability and environmentality. *Multiple Sclerosis Journal*, 21, 1404-1413.
- FILIPPI, M., ROCCA, M. A., BARKHOF, F., BRÜCK, W., CHEN, J. T., COMI, G., DELUCA, G., DE STEFANO, N., ERICKSON, B. J., EVANGELOU, N., FAZEKAS, F., GEURTS, J. J. G., LUCCHINETTI, C., MILLER, D. H., PELLETIER, D., POPESCU, B. F. G. & LASSMANN, H. 2012. Association between pathological and MRI findings in multiple sclerosis. *The Lancet Neurology*, 11, 349-360.
- FRIESE, M. A., SCHATTLING, B. & FUGGER, L. 2014. Mechanisms of neurodegeneration and axonal dysfunction in multiple sclerosis. *Nat Rev Neurol*, 10, 225-38.
- FUKUSHIMA, S., YOSHIDA, A., HONDA, K., MAESHIMA, A. M., NARITA, Y., YAMADA, T., SHIBUI, S. & TSUDA, H. 2014. Immunohistochemical actinin-4 expression in infiltrating gliomas: association with WHO grade and differentiation. *Brain Tumor Pathology*, 31, 11-16.
- GAN-OR, Z., BOUSLAM, N., BIROUK, N., LISSOUBA, A., CHAMBERS, D. B., VÉRIÈPE, J., ANDROSCHUCK, A., LAURENT, S. B., ROCHEFORT, D., SPIEGELMAN, D., DIONNE-LAPORTE, A., SZUTO, A., LIAO, M., FIGLEWICZ, D. A., BOUHOUCHE, A., BENOMAR, A., YAHYAOUI, M., OUAZZANI, R., YOON, G., DUPRÉ, N., SUCHOWERSKY, O., BOLDUC, F. V., PARKER, J. A., DION, P. A., DRAPEAU, P., ROULEAU, G. A. & BENCHEIKH, B. O. A. 2016. Mutations in CAPN1 Cause Autosomal-Recessive Hereditary Spastic Paraplegia. *American Journal of Human Genetics*, 98, 1038-1046.
- GAN-OR, Z. & ROULEAU, G. A. 2016. Calpain 1 in neurodegeneration: a therapeutic target? *The Lancet Neurology*, 15, 1118.
- GE, S., YANG, C.-H., HSU, K.-S., MING, G.-L. & SONG, H. 2007. A Critical Period for Enhanced Synaptic Plasticity in Newly Generated Neurons of the Adult Brain. *Neuron*, 54, 559-566.
- GEURTS, J. J., BÖ, L., ROOSENDAAL, S. D., HAZES, T., DANIËLS, R., BARKHOF, F., WITTER, M. P., HUITINGA, I. & VAN DER VALK, P. 2007. Extensive hippocampal demyelination in multiple sclerosis. *J Neuropathol Exp Neurol*, 66, 819-27.
- GEURTS, J. J., CALABRESE, M., FISHER, E. & RUDICK, R. A. 2012. Measurement and clinical effect of grey matter pathology in multiple sclerosis. *Lancet Neurol*, 11, 1082-92.
- GIANNAKOPOULOU, A., GRIGORIADIS, N., BEKIARI, C., LOURBOPOULOS, A., DORI, I., TSINGOTJIDOU, A. S., MICHALOUDI, H. & PAPADOPOULOS, G. C. 2013. Acute

inflammation alters adult hippocampal neurogenesis in a multiple sclerosis mouse model. *J Neurosci Res*, 91, 890-900.

- GIANNAKOPOULOU, A., LYRAS, G. A. & GRIGORIADIS, N. 2017. Long-term effects of autoimmune CNS inflammation on adult hippocampal neurogenesis. *J Neurosci Res*, 95, 1446-1458.
- GUO, J., LI, H., YU, C., LIU, F., MENG, Y., GONG, W., YANG, H., SHEN, X., JU, G., LI, Z. & WANG, J. 2010. Decreased neural stem/progenitor cell proliferation in mice with chronic/nonremitting experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis. *Neurosignals*, 18, 1-8.
- GUO, J., YANG, J., FU, J. & TRIPATHI, A. 2022a. Exercise improves the body function and protects the neuronal injury in Parkinson's disease rats by activating calpain 1 and kallikrein 6. *Folia Neuropathologica*, 60, 301-307.
- GUO, S., WANG, H. & YIN, Y. 2022b. Microglia polarization from M1 to M2 in neurodegenerative diseases. *Frontiers in aging neuroscience*, 14, 815347.
- HALDER, S. K. & MILNER, R. 2020. Hypoxia in multiple sclerosis; is it the chicken or the egg? Brain, 144, 402-410.
- HAMILTON, A. M., FORKERT, N. D., YANG, R., WU, Y., ROGERS, J. A., YONG, V. W. & DUNN, J. F. 2019. Central nervous system targeted autoimmunity causes regional atrophy: a 9.4T MRI study of the EAE mouse model of Multiple Sclerosis. *Sci Rep*, 9, 8488.
- HARDINGHAM, G. E. & BADING, H. 2010. Synaptic versus extrasynaptic NMDA receptor signalling: implications for neurodegenerative disorders. *Nature Reviews Neuroscience*, 11, 682-696.
- HAUSER, S. L. & CREE, B. A. C. 2020. Treatment of Multiple Sclerosis: A Review. *The American Journal of Medicine*, 133, 1380-1390.e2.
- HEBB, D. O. 1949. The Organization of Behavior : A Neuropsychological Theory. *New York, NY: Wiley & Sons.*
- HEESEN, C. & ROSENKRANZ, S. C. 2022. Physical exercise in multiple sclerosis is not just a symptomatic therapy, it has a disease-modifying effect: No. *Multiple Sclerosis Journal*, 28, 861-862.
- HEIMAN, M., KULICKE, R., FENSTER, R. J., GREENGARD, P. & HEINTZ, N. 2014. Cell type-specific mRNA purification by translating ribosome affinity purification (TRAP). *Nature Protocols.* Nature Publishing Group.
- HILLMAN, C. H., ERICKSON, K. I. & KRAMER, A. F. 2008. Be smart, exercise your heart: exercise effects on brain and cognition. *Nature Reviews Neuroscience*, 9, 58-65.
- HOLLENBACH, J. A. & OKSENBERG, J. R. 2015. The immunogenetics of multiple sclerosis: A comprehensive review. *Journal of Autoimmunity*, 64, 13-25.
- HOUTCHENS, M. K., BENEDICT, R. H. B., KILLIANY, R., SHARMA, J., JAISANI, Z., SINGH, B., WEINSTOCK-GUTTMAN, B., GUTTMANN, C. R. G. & BAKSHI, R. 2007. Thalamic atrophy and cognition in multiple sclerosis. *Neurology*, 69, 1213-1223.

- HUEHNCHEN, P., PROZOROVSKI, T., KLAISSLE, P., LESEMANN, A., INGWERSEN, J., WOLF, S. A., KUPSCH, A., AKTAS, O. & STEINER, B. 2011. Modulation of adult hippocampal neurogenesis during myelin-directed autoimmune neuroinflammation. *Glia*, 59, 132-142.
- INGLESE, M., GE, Y., FILIPPI, M., FALINI, A., GROSSMAN, R. I. & GONEN, O. 2004. Indirect evidence for early widespread gray matter involvement in relapsing–remitting multiple sclerosis. *NeuroImage*, 21, 1825-1829.
- KALINOWSKA, M., CHÁVEZ, A. E., LUTZU, S., CASTILLO, P. E., BUKAUSKAS, F. F. & FRANCESCONI, A. 2015. Actinin-4 Governs Dendritic Spine Dynamics and Promotes Their Remodeling by Metabotropic Glutamate Receptors*. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 290, 15909-15920.
- KAPELLER, P., MCLEAN, M. A., GRIFFIN, C. M., CHARD, D., PARKER, G. J., BARKER, G. J., THOMPSON, A. J. & MILLER, D. H. 2001. Preliminary evidence for neuronal damage in cortical grey matter and normal appearing white matter in short duration relapsing-remitting multiple sclerosis: a quantitative MR spectroscopic imaging study. *J Neurol*, 248, 131-8.
- KAVALIUNAS, A., DANYLAITĖ KARRENBAUER, V., BINZER, S. & HILLERT, J. 2022. Systematic review of the socioeconomic consequences in patients with multiple sclerosis with different levels of disability and cognitive function. *Frontiers in neurology*, 12, 737211.
- KEMPERMANN, G., KUHN, H. G. & GAGE, F. H. 1997. More hippocampal neurons in adult mice living in an enriched environment. *Nature*, 386, 493-495.
- KEMPERMANN, G., SONG, H. & GAGE, F. H. 2015. Neurogenesis in the Adult Hippocampus. Cold Spring Harb Perspect Biol, 7, a018812.
- KIM, D. Y., HAO, J., LIU, R., TURNER, G., SHI, F. D. & RHO, J. M. 2012. Inflammationmediated memory dysfunction and effects of a ketogenic diet in a murine model of multiple sclerosis. *PLoS One*, 7, e35476.
- KIM, T.-W. & SUNG, Y.-H. 2017. Regular exercise promotes memory function and enhances hippocampal neuroplasticity in experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis mice. *Neuroscience*, 346, 173-181.
- KOHMAN, R. A., BHATTACHARYA, T. K., WOJCIK, E. & RHODES, J. S. 2013. Exercise reduces activation of microglia isolated from hippocampus and brain of aged mice. *Journal of Neuroinflammation*, 10, 885.
- KUHN, H. G., EISCH, A. J., SPALDING, K. & PETERSON, D. A. 2016. Detection and phenotypic characterization of adult neurogenesis. *Cold Spring Harbor perspectives in biology*, 8, a025981.
- KUMAR, A., PAREEK, V., FAIQ, M. A., GHOSH, S. K. & KUMARI, C. 2019. ADULT NEUROGENESIS IN HUMANS: A Review of Basic Concepts, History, Current Research, and Clinical Implications. *Innovations in clinical neuroscience*, 16, 30-37.
- KURKOWSKA-JASTRZĘBSKA, I., ŚWIĄTKIEWICZ, M., ZAREMBA, M., CUDNA, A., PIECHAL, A., PYRZANOWSKA, J., WIDY-TYSZKIEWICZ, E. & CZŁONKOWSKA, A. 2013. Neurodegeneration and inflammation in hippocampus in experimental

autoimmune encephalomyelitis induced in rats by one – Time administration of encephalitogenic T cells. *Neuroscience*, 248, 690-698.

- KUTZELNIGG, A., LUCCHINETTI, C. F., STADELMANN, C., BRÜCK, W., RAUSCHKA, H., BERGMANN, M., SCHMIDBAUER, M., PARISI, J. E. & LASSMANN, H. 2005. Cortical demyelination and diffuse white matter injury in multiple sclerosis. *Brain*, 128, 2705-12.
- KYRAN, E. L., ROBINSON, C., KOCOVSKI, P., LI, Z., DANG, P. T., HALE, M. W. & ORIAN, J. M. 2018. Multiple pathological mechanisms contribute to hippocampal damage in the experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis model of multiple sclerosis. *Neuroreport*, 29, 19-24.
- LANZ, T. V., BREWER, R. C., HO, P. P., MOON, J.-S., JUDE, K. M., FERNANDEZ, D., FERNANDES, R. A., GOMEZ, A. M., NADJ, G.-S., BARTLEY, C. M., SCHUBERT, R. D., HAWES, I. A., VAZQUEZ, S. E., IYER, M., ZUCHERO, J. B., TEEGEN, B., DUNN, J. E., LOCK, C. B., KIPP, L. B., COTHAM, V. C., UEBERHEIDE, B. M., AFTAB, B. T., ANDERSON, M. S., DERISI, J. L., WILSON, M. R., BASHFORD-ROGERS, R. J. M., PLATTEN, M., GARCIA, K. C., STEINMAN, L. & ROBINSON, W. H. 2022. Clonally expanded B cells in multiple sclerosis bind EBV EBNA1 and GlialCAM. *Nature*, 603, 321-327.
- LASSMANN, H. & VAN HORSSEN, J. 2011. The molecular basis of neurodegeneration in multiple sclerosis. *FEBS Letters*, 585, 3715-3723.
- LAZERON, R. H., BORINGA, J. B., SCHOUTEN, M., UITDEHAAG, B. M., BERGERS, E., LINDEBOOM, J., EIKELENBOOM, M. J., SCHELTENS, P. H., BARKHOF, F. & POLMAN, C. H. 2005. Brain atrophy and lesion load as explaining parameters for cognitive impairment in multiple sclerosis. *Multiple Sclerosis Journal*, 11, 524-531.
- LEAL, G., BRAMHAM, C. R. & DUARTE, C. B. 2017. BDNF and Hippocampal Synaptic Plasticity. *Vitam Horm*, 104, 153-195.
- LEAVITT, V. M., CIRNIGLIARO, C., COHEN, A., FARAG, A., BROOKS, M., WECHT, J. M., WYLIE, G. R., CHIARAVALLOTI, N. D., DELUCA, J. & SUMOWSKI, J. F. 2014. Aerobic exercise increases hippocampal volume and improves memory in multiple sclerosis: Preliminary findings. *Neurocase*, 20, 695-697.
- LEE, J., DUAN, W., LONG, J. M., INGRAM, D. K. & MATTSON, M. P. 2000. Dietary restriction increases the number of newly generated neural cells, and induces BDNF expression, in the dentate gyrus of rats. *J Mol Neurosci*, 15, 99-108.
- LEMMENS, J., DE PAUW, J., VAN SOOM, T., MICHIELS, S., VERSIJPT, J., VAN BREDA, E., CASTIEN, R. & DE HERTOGH, W. 2019. The effect of aerobic exercise on the number of migraine days, duration and pain intensity in migraine: a systematic literature review and meta-analysis. *The Journal of Headache and Pain,* 20, 16.
- LIN, W. Y., WANG, H., SONG, X., ZHANG, S. X., ZHOU, P. S., SUN, J. M. & LI, J. S. 2016. Knockdown of tripartite motif 59 (TRIM59) inhibits tumor growth in prostate cancer. *Eur Rev Med Pharmacol Sci*, 20, 4864-4873.
- LIU, J., SOLWAY, K., MESSING, R. O. & SHARP, F. R. 1998. Increased neurogenesis in the dentate gyrus after transient global ischemia in gerbils. *J Neurosci*, 18, 7768-78.

- LIU, P. Z. & NUSSLOCK, R. 2018. Exercise-mediated neurogenesis in the hippocampus via BDNF. *Frontiers in neuroscience*, 12, 52.
- LIU, Y., SUN, J., WANG, Y., LOPEZ, D., TRAN, J., BI, X. & BAUDRY, M. 2016. Deleting both PHLPP1 and CANP1 rescues impairments in long-term potentiation and learning in both single knockout mice. *Learn Mem*, 23, 399-404.
- LIU, Y., YAN, T., CHU, J. M.-T., CHEN, Y., DUNNETT, S., HO, Y.-S., WONG, G. T.-C. & CHANG, R. C.-C. 2019. The beneficial effects of physical exercise in the brain and related pathophysiological mechanisms in neurodegenerative diseases. *Laboratory Investigation*, 99, 943-957.
- LLEDO, P.-M., ALONSO, M. & GRUBB, M. S. 2006. Adult neurogenesis and functional plasticity in neuronal circuits. *Nature Reviews Neuroscience*, 7, 179-193.
- LOPRINZI, P. 2019. The Effects of Exercise on Long-Term Potentiation: A Candidate Mechanism of the Exercise-Memory Relationship. *OBM Neurobiology*, 03, 026.
- LOPRINZI, P. D., FRITH, E., EDWARDS, M. K., SNG, E. & ASHPOLE, N. 2018. The effects of exercise on memory function among young to middle-aged adults: systematic review and recommendations for future research. *American Journal of Health Promotion*, 32, 691-704.
- MA, C.-L., MA, X.-T., WANG, J.-J., LIU, H., CHEN, Y.-F. & YANG, Y. 2017. Physical exercise induces hippocampal neurogenesis and prevents cognitive decline. *Behavioural Brain Research*, 317, 332-339.
- MACHADO-SANTOS, J., SAJI, E., TRÖSCHER, A. R., PAUNOVIC, M., LIBLAU, R., GABRIELY, G., BIEN, C. G., BAUER, J. & LASSMANN, H. 2018. The compartmentalized inflammatory response in the multiple sclerosis brain is composed of tissue-resident CD8+ T lymphocytes and B cells. *Brain*, 141, 2066-2082.
- MAGLIOZZI, R., HOWELL, O. W., NICHOLAS, R., CRUCIANI, C., CASTELLARO, M., ROMUALDI, C., ROSSI, S., PITTERI, M., BENEDETTI, M. D., GAJOFATTO, A., PIZZINI, F. B., MONTEMEZZI, S., RASIA, S., CAPRA, R., BERTOLDO, A., FACCHIANO, F., MONACO, S., REYNOLDS, R. & CALABRESE, M. 2018. Inflammatory intrathecal profiles and cortical damage in multiple sclerosis. *Annals of Neurology*, 83, 739-755.
- MAŁKIEWICZ, M. A., SZARMACH, A., SABISZ, A., CUBAŁA, W. J., SZUROWSKA, E. & WINKLEWSKI, P. J. 2019. Blood-brain barrier permeability and physical exercise. *Journal of Neuroinflammation*, 16, 15.
- MANCINI, A., GAETANI, L., DI GREGORIO, M., TOZZI, A., GHIGLIERI, V., CALABRESI, P.
 & DI FILIPPO, M. 2017. Hippocampal neuroplasticity and inflammation: relevance for multiple sclerosis. *Multiple Sclerosis and Demyelinating Disorders*, 2, 2.
- MANGANAS, L. N., ZHANG, X., LI, Y., HAZEL, R. D., SMITH, S. D., WAGSHUL, M. E., HENN, F., BENVENISTE, H., DJURIĆ, P. M., ENIKOLOPOV, G. & MALETIĆ-SAVATIĆ, M. 2007. Magnetic Resonance Spectroscopy Identifies Neural Progenitor Cells in the Live Human Brain. Science, 318, 980-985.
- MARRIE, R. A. 2004. Environmental risk factors in multiple sclerosis aetiology. *The Lancet Neurology*, *3*, 709-718.

- MEE-INTA, O., ZHAO, Z.-W. & KUO, Y.-M. 2019. Physical exercise inhibits inflammation and microglial activation. *Cells*, 8, 691.
- MEGA, M. S., CUMMINGS, J. L., SALLOWAY, S. & MALLOY, P. 1997. The limbic system: an anatomic, phylogenetic, and clinical perspective. *The Journal of Neuropsychiatry and Clinical Neurosciences*, 9, 315-330.
- MINAGAR, A. & ALEXANDER, J. S. 2003. Blood-brain barrier disruption in multiple sclerosis. *Multiple Sclerosis Journal*, 9, 540-549.
- MOHYELDIN, A., GARZÓN-MUVDI, T. & QUIÑONES-HINOJOSA, A. 2010. Oxygen in stem cell biology: a critical component of the stem cell niche. *Cell Stem Cell*, 7, 150-61.
- MONJE, M. L., TODA, H. & PALMER, T. D. 2003. Inflammatory Blockade Restores Adult Hippocampal Neurogenesis. *Science*, 302, 1760-1765.
- MORENO-JIMENEZ, E. P., FLOR-GARCIA, M., TERREROS-RONCAL, J., RABANO, A., CAFINI, F., PALLAS-BAZARRA, N., AVILA, J. & LLORENS-MARTIN, M. 2019. Adult hippocampal neurogenesis is abundant in neurologically healthy subjects and drops sharply in patients with Alzheimer's disease. *Nat Med*, 25, 554-560.
- MORI, F., NISTICÒ, R., MANDOLESI, G., PICCININ, S., MANGO, D., KUSAYANAGI, H., BERRETTA, N., BERGAMI, A., GENTILE, A., MUSELLA, A., NICOLETTI, C. G., NICOLETTI, F., BUTTARI, F., MERCURI, N. B., MARTINO, G., FURLAN, R. & CENTONZE, D. 2014. Interleukin-1β Promotes Long-Term Potentiation in Patients with Multiple Sclerosis. *NeuroMolecular Medicine*, 16, 38-51.
- MOTL, R. W. & PILUTTI, L. A. 2012. The benefits of exercise training in multiple sclerosis. *Nat Rev Neurol*, 8, 487-97.
- MOTL, R. W., PILUTTI, L. A., HUBBARD, E. A., WETTER, N. C., SOSNOFF, J. J. & SUTTON,
 B. P. 2015. Cardiorespiratory fitness and its association with thalamic, hippocampal, and basal ganglia volumes in multiple sclerosis. *NeuroImage: Clinical*, 7, 661-666.
- MOTL, R. W. & SANDROFF, B. M. 2022. Physical exercise in multiple sclerosis is not just a symptomatic therapy: It has a disease-modifying effect-Yes. *Mult Scler*, 28, 859-861.
- NEEPER, S. A., GÓAUCTEMEZ-PINILLA, F., CHOI, J. & COTMAN, C. 1995. Exercise and brain neurotrophins. *Nature*, 373, 109-109.
- NEVES, G., COOKE, S. F. & BLISS, T. V. P. 2008. Synaptic plasticity, memory and the hippocampus: a neural network approach to causality. *Nature Reviews Neuroscience*, 9, 65-75.
- NISTICÒ, R., MANGO, D., MANDOLESI, G., PICCININ, S., BERRETTA, N., PIGNATELLI, M., FELIGIONI, M., MUSELLA, A., GENTILE, A., MORI, F., BERNARDI, G., NICOLETTI, F., MERCURI, N. B. & CENTONZE, D. 2013. Inflammation subverts hippocampal synaptic plasticity in experimental multiple sclerosis. *PLoS One*, 8, e54666.
- NOVKOVIC, T., SHCHYGLO, O., GOLD, R. & MANAHAN-VAUGHAN, D. 2015. Hippocampal function is compromised in an animal model of multiple sclerosis. *Neuroscience*, 309, 100-112.

- O'KEEFE, J. & NADEL, L. 1979. The hippocampus as a cognitive map. *Behavioral and Brain Sciences*, 2, 487-494.
- OLSSON, T., BARCELLOS, L. F. & ALFREDSSON, L. 2017. Interactions between genetic, lifestyle and environmental risk factors for multiple sclerosis. *Nature Reviews Neurology*, 13, 25-36.
- OREJA-GUEVARA, C., ROVARIS, M., IANNUCCI, G., VALSASINA, P., CAPUTO, D., CAVARRETTA, R., SORMANI, M. P., FERRANTE, P., COMI, G. & FILIPPI, M. 2005. Progressive Gray Matter Damage in Patients With Relapsing-Remitting Multiple Sclerosis: A Longitudinal Diffusion Tensor Magnetic Resonance Imaging Study. *Archives of Neurology*, 62, 578-584.
- OTEY, C. A. & CARPEN, O. 2004. α-actinin revisited: A fresh look at an old player. *Cell Motility*, 58, 104-111.
- PAPADOPOULOS, D., DUKES, S., PATEL, R., NICHOLAS, R., VORA, A. & REYNOLDS, R. 2009. Substantial Archaeocortical Atrophy and Neuronal Loss in Multiple Sclerosis. *Brain Pathology*, 19, 238-253.
- PAPEZ, J. W. 1937. A proposed mechanism of emotion. *Archives of Neurology & Psychiatry*, 38, 725-743.
- PARENT, J. M., YU, T. W., LEIBOWITZ, R. T., GESCHWIND, D. H., SLOVITER, R. S. & LOWENSTEIN, D. H. 1997. Dentate granule cell neurogenesis is increased by seizures and contributes to aberrant network reorganization in the adult rat hippocampus. *J Neurosci*, 17, 3727-38.
- PATSOPOULOS, N. A. 2018. Genetics of multiple sclerosis: an overview and new directions. *Cold Spring Harbor perspectives in medicine,* 8, a028951.
- PEDERSEN, B. K. 2019. Physical activity and muscle-brain crosstalk. *Nat Rev Endocrinol,* 15, 383-392.
- PEÑA-BAUTISTA, C., CASAS-FERNÁNDEZ, E., VENTO, M., BAQUERO, M. & CHÁFER-PERICÁS, C. 2020. Stress and neurodegeneration. *Clinica Chimica Acta*, 503, 163-168.
- PETAJAN, J. H. & WHITE, A. T. 1999. Recommendations for physical activity in patients with multiple sclerosis. *Sports Med*, 27, 179-91.
- PIANI, D., FREI, K., DO, K. Q., CUÉNOD, M. & FONTANA, A. 1991. Murine brain macrophages induced NMDA receptor mediated neurotoxicity in vitro by secreting glutamate. *Neurosci Lett*, 133, 159-62.
- PILUTTI, L. A., PLATTA, M. E., MOTL, R. W. & LATIMER-CHEUNG, A. E. 2014. The safety of exercise training in multiple sclerosis: a systematic review. *J Neurol Sci*, 343, 3-7.
- PLANCHE, V., RUET, A., COUPÉ, P., LAMARGUE-HAMEL, D., DELOIRE, M., PEREIRA, B., MANJON, J. V., MUNSCH, F., MOSCUFO, N., MEIER, D. S., GUTTMANN, C. R., DOUSSET, V., BROCHET, B. & TOURDIAS, T. 2017. Hippocampal microstructural damage correlates with memory impairment in clinically isolated syndrome suggestive of multiple sclerosis. *Mult Scler*, 23, 1214-1224.

- POPESCU, B. F. & LUCCHINETTI, C. F. 2012. Pathology of demyelinating diseases. *Annu Rev Pathol,* 7, 185-217.
- PRAKASH, R. S., SNOOK, E. M., MOTL, R. W. & KRAMER, A. F. 2010. Aerobic fitness is associated with gray matter volume and white matter integrity in multiple sclerosis. *Brain Res*, 1341, 41-51.
- PRYOR, W. M., FREEMAN, K. G., LARSON, R. D., EDWARDS, G. L. & WHITE, L. J. 2015. Chronic exercise confers neuroprotection in experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis. *J Neurosci Res*, 93, 697-706.
- RACKE, M. K. 2001. Experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis (EAE). Current protocols in neuroscience, 14, 9.7.1-9.7.11.
- RADAK, Z., SUZUKI, K., HIGUCHI, M., BALOGH, L., BOLDOGH, I. & KOLTAI, E. 2016. Physical exercise, reactive oxygen species and neuroprotection. *Free Radical Biology* and Medicine, 98, 187-196.
- RAO, S. M., LEO, G. J., HAUGHTON, V. M., ST AUBIN-FAUBERT, P. & BERNARDIN, L. 1989. Correlation of magnetic resonance imaging with neuropsychological testing in multiple sclerosis. *Neurology*, 39, 161-6.
- REICH, D. S., LUCCHINETTI, C. F. & CALABRESI, P. A. 2018. Multiple Sclerosis. N Engl J Med, 378, 169-180.
- RIZZO, F. R., GUADALUPI, L., SANNA, K., VANNI, V., FRESEGNA, D., DE VITO, F., MUSELLA, A., CAIOLI, S., BALLETTA, S., BULLITTA, S., BRUNO, A., DOLCETTI, E., STAMPANONI BASSI, M., BUTTARI, F., GILIO, L., MANDOLESI, G., CENTONZE, D. & GENTILE, A. 2021. Exercise protects from hippocampal inflammation and neurodegeneration in experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis. *Brain, Behavior, and Immunity*, 98, 13-27.
- ROCCA, M. A., AMATO, M. P., DE STEFANO, N., ENZINGER, C., GEURTS, J. J., PENNER, I.-K., ROVIRA, A., SUMOWSKI, J. F., VALSASINA, P. & FILIPPI, M. 2015. Clinical and imaging assessment of cognitive dysfunction in multiple sclerosis. *The Lancet Neurology*, 14, 302-317.
- ROCCA, M. A., BARKHOF, F., DE LUCA, J., FRISÉN, J., GEURTS, J. J. G., HULST, H. E., SASTRE-GARRIGA, J. & FILIPPI, M. 2018. The hippocampus in multiple sclerosis. *Lancet Neurol*, 17, 918-926.
- ROLLS, E. T. 2015. Limbic systems for emotion and for memory, but no single limbic system. *Cortex*, 62, 119-57.
- ROOSENDAAL, S. D., MORAAL, B., VRENKEN, H., CASTELIJNS, J. A., POUWELS, P. J.
 W., BARKHOF, F. & GEURTS, J. J. G. 2008. In vivo MR imaging of hippocampal lesions in multiple sclerosis. *Journal of Magnetic Resonance Imaging*, 27, 726-731.
- ROSENKRANZ, S. C., PLOUGHMAN, M., HVID, L. G., ZIMMER, P., ERICKSON, K., STELLMANN, J.-P., CENTONZE, D. & FRIESE, M. A. 2023. The MoxFo initiative— Mechanisms of action: Biomarkers in multiple sclerosis exercise studies. *Multiple Sclerosis Journal*, 29, 1569-1577.

- ROSENKRANZ, S. C., SHAPOSHNYKOV, A. A., TRÄGER, S., ENGLER, J. B., WITTE, M. E., ROTH, V., VIEIRA, V., PAAUW, N., BAUER, S., SCHWENCKE-WESTPHAL, C., SCHUBERT, C., BAL, L. C., SCHATTLING, B., PLESS, O., VAN HORSSEN, J., FREICHEL, M. & FRIESE, M. A. 2021. Enhancing mitochondrial activity in neurons protects against neurodegeneration in a mouse model of multiple sclerosis. *eLife*, 10, e61798.
- ROSSI, S., FURLAN, R., DE CHIARA, V., MUSELLA, A., LO GIUDICE, T., MATALUNI, G., CAVASINNI, F., CANTARELLA, C., BERNARDI, G., MUZIO, L., MARTORANA, A., MARTINO, G. & CENTONZE, D. 2009. Exercise attenuates the clinical, synaptic and dendritic abnormalities of experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis. *Neurobiology* of *Disease*, 36, 51-59.
- SAILOR, K. A., MING, G. L. & SONG, H. 2006. Neurogenesis as a potential therapeutic strategy for neurodegenerative diseases. *Expert Opin Biol Ther,* 6, 879-90.
- SANDI, C. 2004. Stress, cognitive impairment and cell adhesion molecules. *Nature Reviews Neuroscience*, 5, 917-930.
- SANDROFF, B. M., JOHNSON, C. L. & MOTL, R. W. 2017. Exercise training effects on memory and hippocampal viscoelasticity in multiple sclerosis: a novel application of magnetic resonance elastography. *Neuroradiology*, 59, 61-67.
- SANDROFF, B. M., MOTL, R. W., SCUDDER, M. R. & DELUCA, J. 2016. Systematic, Evidence-Based Review of Exercise, Physical Activity, and Physical Fitness Effects on Cognition in Persons with Multiple Sclerosis. *Neuropsychol Rev*, 26, 271-294.
- SCHATTLING, B., ENGLER, J. B., VOLKMANN, C., ROTHAMMER, N., WOO, M. S., PETERSEN, M., WINKLER, I., KAUFMANN, M., ROSENKRANZ, S. C., FEJTOVA, A., THOMAS, U., BOSE, A., BAUER, S., TRÄGER, S., MILLER, K. K., BRÜCK, W., DUNCAN, K. E., SALINAS, G., SOBA, P., GUNDELFINGER, E. D., MERKLER, D. & FRIESE, M. A. 2019. Bassoon proteinopathy drives neurodegeneration in multiple sclerosis. *Nature Neuroscience*, 22, 887-896.
- SCHULTZ, C. & ENGELHARDT, M. 2014. Anatomy of the hippocampal formation. *Front Neurol Neurosci,* 34, 6-17.
- SCHULZ, K. H., GOLD, S. M., WITTE, J., BARTSCH, K., LANG, U. E., HELLWEG, R., REER, R., BRAUMANN, K. M. & HEESEN, C. 2004. Impact of aerobic training on immuneendocrine parameters, neurotrophic factors, quality of life and coordinative function in multiple sclerosis. *J Neurol Sci*, 225, 11-8.
- SHAPIRO, L. A. 2017. Altered Hippocampal Neurogenesis during the First 7 Days after a Fluid Percussion Traumatic Brain Injury. *Cell Transplant,* 26, 1314-1318.
- SIBLEY, B. & ETNIER, J. 2003. The Relationship between Physical Activity and Cognition in Children: A Meta-Analysis. *Pediatric Exercise Science*, 15, 243-256.
- SICOTTE, N. L., KERN, K. C., GIESSER, B. S., ARSHANAPALLI, A., SCHULTZ, A., MONTAG, M., WANG, H. & BOOKHEIMER, S. Y. 2008. Regional hippocampal atrophy in multiple sclerosis. *Brain*, 131, 1134-1141.
- SINTZEL, M. B., RAMETTA, M. & REDER, A. T. 2018. Vitamin D and Multiple Sclerosis: A Comprehensive Review. *Neurol Ther*, 7, 59-85.

- SOCH, A., BRADBURN, S., SOMINSKY, L., DE LUCA, S. N., MURGATROYD, C. & SPENCER, S. J. 2016. Effects of exercise on adolescent and adult hypothalamic and hippocampal neuroinflammation. *Hippocampus*, 26, 1435-1446.
- SORRELLS, S. F., PAREDES, M. F., CEBRIAN-SILLA, A., SANDOVAL, K., QI, D., KELLEY, K. W., JAMES, D., MAYER, S., CHANG, J., AUGUSTE, K. I., CHANG, E. F., GUTIERREZ, A. J., KRIEGSTEIN, A. R., MATHERN, G. W., OLDHAM, M. C., HUANG, E. J., GARCIA-VERDUGO, J. M., YANG, Z. & ALVAREZ-BUYLLA, A. 2018. Human hippocampal neurogenesis drops sharply in children to undetectable levels in adults. *Nature*, 555, 377-381.
- SOUZA, P. S., GONÇALVES, E. D., PEDROSO, G. S., FARIAS, H. R., JUNQUEIRA, S. C., MARCON, R., TUON, T., COLA, M., SILVEIRA, P. C. L., SANTOS, A. R., CALIXTO, J. B., SOUZA, C. T., DE PINHO, R. A. & DUTRA, R. C. 2017. Physical Exercise Attenuates Experimental Autoimmune Encephalomyelitis by Inhibiting Peripheral Immune Response and Blood-Brain Barrier Disruption. *Molecular Neurobiology*, 54, 4723-4737.
- SPERLING, R. A., GUTTMANN, C. R., HOHOL, M. J., WARFIELD, S. K., JAKAB, M., PARENTE, M., DIAMOND, E. L., DAFFNER, K. R., OLEK, M. J., ORAV, E. J., KIKINIS, R., JOLESZ, F. A. & WEINER, H. L. 2001. Regional magnetic resonance imaging lesion burden and cognitive function in multiple sclerosis: a longitudinal study. *Arch Neurol*, 58, 115-21.
- SRIRAM, S. & STEINER, I. 2005. Experimental allergic encephalomyelitis: a misleading model of multiple sclerosis. *Ann Neurol*, 58, 939-45.
- STROMNES, I. M. & GOVERMAN, J. M. 2006. Active induction of experimental allergic encephalomyelitis. *Nature Protocols*, **1**, 1810-1819.
- STYS, P. K., ZAMPONI, G. W., VAN MINNEN, J. & GEURTS, J. J. G. 2012. Will the real multiple sclerosis please stand up? *Nature Reviews Neuroscience*, 13, 507-514.
- SU, W., ZHOU, Q., WANG, Y., CHISHTI, A., LI, Q. Q., DAYAL, S., SHIEHZADEGAN, S., CHENG, A., MOORE, C., BI, X. & BAUDRY, M. 2020. Deletion of the Capn1 Gene Results in Alterations in Signaling Pathways Related to Alzheimer's Disease, Protein Quality Control and Synaptic Plasticity in Mouse Brain. *Frontiers in Genetics*, 11, 334.
- SUMOWSKI, J. F., BENEDICT, R., ENZINGER, C., FILIPPI, M., GEURTS, J. J., HAMALAINEN, P., HULST, H., INGLESE, M., LEAVITT, V. M., ROCCA, M. A., ROSTI-OTAJARVI, E. M. & RAO, S. 2018. Cognition in multiple sclerosis. *State of the field and priorities for the future*, 90, 278-288.
- SUNDSTRÖM, P., NYSTRÖM, M., RUUTH, K. & LUNDGREN, E. 2009. Antibodies to specific EBNA-1 domains and HLA DRB1*1501 interact as risk factors for multiple sclerosis. *J Neuroimmunol*, 215, 102-7.
- SURGET, A. & BELZUNG, C. 2022. Adult hippocampal neurogenesis shapes adaptation and improves stress response: a mechanistic and integrative perspective. *Molecular Psychiatry*, 27, 403-421.
- TENTLER, D., LOMERT, E., NOVITSKAYA, K. & BARLEV, N. A. 2019. Role of ACTN4 in Tumorigenesis, Metastasis, and EMT. *Cells*, 8, 1427-1427.

- THOMPSON, A. J., BARANZINI, S. E., GEURTS, J., HEMMER, B. & CICCARELLI, O. 2018. Multiple sclerosis. *The Lancet*, 391, 1622-1636.
- TRAPP, B. D., RANSOHOFF, R. M., FISHER, E. & RUDICK, R. A. 1999. Neurodegeneration in Multiple Sclerosis: Relationship to Neurological Disability. *The Neuroscientist*, 5, 48-57.
- UYSAL, N., TUGYAN, K., KAYATEKIN, B. M., ACIKGOZ, O., BAGRIYANIK, H. A., GONENC, S., OZDEMIR, D., AKSU, I., TOPCU, A. & SEMIN, I. 2005. The effects of regular aerobic exercise in adolescent period on hippocampal neuron density, apoptosis and spatial memory. *Neuroscience Letters*, 383, 241-245.
- VAN PRAAG, H., FLESHNER, M., SCHWARTZ, M. W. & MATTSON, M. P. 2014. Exercise, energy intake, glucose homeostasis, and the brain. *J Neurosci*, 34, 15139-49.
- VAN PRAAG, H., KEMPERMANN, G. & GAGE, F. H. 1999. Running increases cell proliferation and neurogenesis in the adult mouse dentate gyrus. *Nature Neuroscience*, 2, 266-270.
- VAN PRAAG, H., SCHINDER, A. F., CHRISTIE, B. R., TONI, N., PALMER, T. D. & GAGE, F. H. 2002. Functional neurogenesis in the adult hippocampus. *Nature*, 415, 1030-4.
- VAYNMAN, S., YING, Z. & GOMEZ-PINILLA, F. 2004. Hippocampal BDNF mediates the efficacy of exercise on synaptic plasticity and cognition. *Eur J Neurosci*, 20, 2580-90.
- VECCHIO, L. M., MENG, Y., XHIMA, K., LIPSMAN, N., HAMANI, C. & AUBERT, I. 2018. The Neuroprotective Effects of Exercise: Maintaining a Healthy Brain Throughout Aging. *Brain Plasticity*, 4, 17-52.
- VON BOHLEN UND HALBACH, O. 2007. Immunohistological markers for staging neurogenesis in adult hippocampus. *Cell and Tissue Research*, 329, 409-420.
- VON BOHLEN UND HALBACH, O. 2011. Immunohistological markers for proliferative events, gliogenesis, and neurogenesis within the adult hippocampus. *Cell Tissue Res*, 345, 1-19.
- VOSKUHL, R. R. & MACKENZIE-GRAHAM, A. 2022. Chronic experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis is an excellent model to study neuroaxonal degeneration in multiple sclerosis. *Front Mol Neurosci*, 15, 1024058.
- WALLIN, M. T., CULPEPPER, W. J., NICHOLS, E., BHUTTA, Z. A., GEBREHIWOT, T. T., HAY, S. I., KHALIL, I. A., KROHN, K. J., LIANG, X., NAGHAVI, M., MOKDAD, A. H., NIXON, M. R., REINER, R. C., SARTORIUS, B., SMITH, M., TOPOR-MADRY, R., WERDECKER, A., VOS, T., FEIGIN, V. L. & MURRAY, C. J. L. 2019. Global, regional, and national burden of multiple sclerosis 1990–2016: a systematic analysis for the Global Burden of Disease Study 2016. *The Lancet Neurology*, 18, 269-285.
- WALTON, C., KING, R., RECHTMAN, L., KAYE, W., LERAY, E., MARRIE, R. A., ROBERTSON, N., LA ROCCA, N., UITDEHAAG, B. & VAN DER MEI, I. 2020. Rising prevalence of multiple sclerosis worldwide: Insights from the Atlas of MS. *Multiple Sclerosis Journal*, 26, 1816-1821.

- WANG, J., YUE, B., ZHANG, X., GUO, X., SUN, Z. & NIU, R. 2021. Effect of exercise on microglial activation and transcriptome of hippocampus in fluorosis mice. *Science of The Total Environment*, 760, 143376.
- WANG, Y., LIU, Y., LOPEZ, D., LEE, M., DAYAL, S., HURTADO, A., BI, X. & BAUDRY, M. 2018. Protection against TBI-Induced Neuronal Death with Post-Treatment with a Selective Calpain-2 Inhibitor in Mice. *J Neurotrauma*, 35, 105-117.
- WEGNER, C., ESIRI, M. M., CHANCE, S. A., PALACE, J. & MATTHEWS, P. M. 2006. Neocortical neuronal, synaptic, and glial loss in multiple sclerosis. *Neurology*, 67, 960-967.
- WESNES, K., MYHR, K.-M., RIISE, T., CORTESE, M., PUGLIATTI, M., BOSTRÖM, I., LANDTBLOM, A.-M., WOLFSON, C. & BJØRNEVIK, K. 2017. Physical activity is associated with a decreased multiple sclerosis risk: The EnvIMS study. *Multiple Sclerosis Journal*, 24, 150-157.
- WESNES, K., MYHR, K. M., RIISE, T., CORTESE, M., PUGLIATTI, M., BOSTRÖM, I., LANDTBLOM, A. M., WOLFSON, C. & BJØRNEVIK, K. 2018. Physical activity is associated with a decreased multiple sclerosis risk: The EnvIMS study. *Mult Scler*, 24, 150-157.
- WEZYK, M., SPÓLNICKA, M., POŚPIECH, E., PEPŁOŃSKA, B., ZBIEĆ-PIEKARSKA, R., ILKOWSKI, J., STYCZYŃSKA, M., BARCZAK, A., ZBOCH, M., FILIPEK-GLISZCZYNSKA, A., SKRZYPCZAK, M., GINALSKI, K., KABZA, M., MAKAŁOWSKA, I., BARCIKOWSKA-KOTOWICZ, M., BRANICKI, W. & ŻEKANOWSKI, C. 2018. Hypermethylation of TRIM59 and KLF14 Influences Cell Death Signaling in Familial Alzheimer's Disease. *Hindawi Oxidative Medicine and Cellular Longevity*, 2018, 11-11.
- WITTE, M. E., GEURTS, J. J. G., DE VRIES, H. E., VAN DER VALK, P. & VAN HORSSEN, J. 2010. Mitochondrial dysfunction: A potential link between neuroinflammation and neurodegeneration? *Mitochondrion*, 10, 411-418.
- WRANN, C. D., WHITE, J. P., SALOGIANNNIS, J., LAZNIK-BOGOSLAVSKI, D., WU, J., MA, D., LIN, J. D., GREENBERG, M. E. & SPIEGELMAN, B. M. 2013. Exercise induces hippocampal BDNF through a PGC-1α/FNDC5 pathway. *Cell Metab*, 18, 649-59.
- ZIEHN, M. O., AVEDISIAN, A. A., DERVIN, S. M., O'DELL, T. J. & VOSKUHL, R. R. 2012. Estriol preserves synaptic transmission in the hippocampus during autoimmune demyelinating disease. *Lab Invest*, 92, 1234-45.
- ZIEHN, M. O., AVEDISIAN, A. A., TIWARI-WOODRUFF, S. & VOSKUHL, R. R. 2010. Hippocampal CA1 atrophy and synaptic loss during experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis, EAE. *Lab Invest*, 90, 774-86.

9 Acknowledgement

I would like to thank Prof. Dr. Manuel Friese for the opportunity to work on this exciting and interesting project under his great supervision. I am extremely grateful for his good advice, encouragement and valuable feedback, which has taught me a lot about scientific work and thinking.

Many thanks also to Dr. Sina Rosenkranz for providing and closely supervising the project, for the always honest and open communication and great encouragement during all steps of the project. I really appreciated working with her, both on a scientific and personal level.

Furthermore, I would like to thank all current and former INIMS employees for their support and good working environment. In particular, my thanks go to Lukas Raich for teaching me the experimental tools, for the great cooperation in the project and the fun time we had together. Many thanks to Dr. Charlotte Schubert, Dr. Iris Winkler and Dr. Marcel Woo, who supported me in my research and were always available to answer my (many) questions. I am also very grateful to Vanessa Vieira, who reliably supported me with experimental procedures.

I thank Prof. Dr. Jörg Heeren and Prof. Dr. Stefan Gold for their valuable feedback and exciting discussions regarding the project.

I would like to thank the Hertie Foundation and the iPRIME doctoral program for their funding, support and exciting seminars, journal clubs and workshops.

Finally, I am very grateful for my great family and friends who have always supported and encouraged me with lots of love and patience during my studies and my thesis.

10 Curriculum vitae

Der Lebenslauf entfällt aus datenschutzrechtlichen Gründen.

11 Eidesstattliche Versicherung

Ich versichere ausdrücklich, dass ich die Arbeit selbständig und ohne fremde Hilfe verfasst, andere als die von mir angegebenen Quellen und Hilfsmittel nicht benutzt und die aus den benutzten Werken wörtlich oder inhaltlich entnommenen Stellen einzeln nach Ausgabe (Auflage und Jahr des Erscheinens), Band und Seite des benutzten Werkes kenntlich gemacht habe.

Ferner versichere ich, dass ich die Dissertation bisher nicht einem Fachvertreter an einer anderen Hochschule zur Überprüfung vorgelegt oder mich anderweitig um Zulassung zur Promotion beworben habe.

Ich erkläre mich einverstanden, dass meine Dissertation vom Dekanat der Medizinischen Fakultät mit einer gängigen Software zur Erkennung von Plagiaten überprüft werden kann.

Unterschrift: